EATING HABITS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF SCHOOL GOING ADOLESCENT GIRLS IN KISUMU CITY, KENYA

BY CAROLINE KANAIZA

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN COMMUNITY NUTRITION AND DEVELOPMENT

DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION AND HEALTH

MASENO UNIVERSITY

© 2016

DECLARATION

I certify that this thesis has not been previously presented for a degree in Maseno University or any other University. The work reported herein is my original work and all sources of information have been supported by relevant references

> **Caroline Kanaiza** PG /MSc/011/2005

Signature Date

SUPERVISORS:

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as university supervisors

Dr. Pauline Andang'o School of Public Health and Community Development Department of Nutrition and Health Maseno University

Sign Date

Prof. Judith Waudo Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Kenyatta University

Sign Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to acknowledge the invaluable assistance provided by my supervisors: Dr. Pauline Andang'o, and Professor Judith Waudo without whom this report would not have been successfully written. Much appreciation goes to the Ministry of Education, Kisumu East and the deputy teachers of Xaverian, Lion Secondary and Ksumu Highway Secondary Schools. My deepest gratitude also goes to my entire family for all their support, both financial and moral.

DEDICATION

This Thesis is dedicated to my son Brandon Swahili and my parents Gideon and Esther Swahili.

ABSTRACT

Adolescents form 20% of the world's population, with 85% living in developing countries. In Kenya, they comprise 23.8% of the population. Nutritional status of adolescent girls has been reported to influence future maternal and infant health. Most studies in developing countries have focused on nutritional status and food security among children under 5 years as well as breastfeeding and pregnant mothers; while little attention has been given to nutrition in adolescents. Globalization, rapid urbanization and economic growth have led to changed trends in lifestyles and eating habits particularly among adolescents in developing countries that are likely to affect their nutrition status. However it is not clear whether eating habits reported in the West also exist in developing country contexts, or whether, as in the West, they may influence nutritional status of adolescent girls. This study aimed to assess the relationship between eating habits and nutritional status among school going adolescent girls in Kisumu, the third largest City in Kenya, open to Western influence on eating habits. Specific objectives were to: identify eating habits practiced by adolescent girls in Kisumu City; establish factors determining their eating habits; and assess the relationship between eating habits and their nutritional status. Anthropometric measurements were taken to determine nutritional status, and data on household and cultural factors, eating habits, and psychosocial factors measured on a 10-item Rosenberg scale and adapted Eating Attitude Test-26, was collected using a structured questionnaire; in a cross-sectional survey conducted among 235 randomly selected school-going adolescent girls aged 14 to 19 years, from 3 randomly selected mixed schools in Kisumu City. Logistic and linear regressions were used to assess relationships between eating habits; and between eating habits and nutritional status. Prevalence of overweight, obesity and underweight were 29.2%, 4.9% and 4.4%, respectively. Skipping meals, snacking, binge eating -all negative eating habits; and vegetable and fruit consumption-positive habits, were practised by the adolescent girls. Skipping meals, especially breakfast was the most common eating habit (62.8 %), while fruit consumption was the least common (41.2%). Vegetable consumption was associated with a 0.19 (95% CI: 0.02, 2.46; p=0.005) increase in BMI. The prevalence of overweight and obesity is high in school-going adolescents in Kisumu; and although eating habits identified in the West exist in this group, they are compensatory mechanisms to cater for missed meals or limited time to prepare and consume breakfast, rather than a conscious decision to reduce food intake as seen in developed countries. Ministry of health and school administrations should enhance healthy eating habits through nutrition education, and sensitise parents on the importance of breakfast for the girls; and influence the food options sold in kiosks around schools efforts County in joint with government authorities.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	III
DEDICATION	IV
ABSTRACT	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
LIST OF TABLES	X
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	13
1.1 BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY	13
1.2Statement of the Problem	
1.3 BROAD OBJECTIVE	
1.4Specific Objectives of the Study	20
1.5 JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY	
1.6SCOPE OF THE STUDY	
1.7LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	
1.8DEFINITION OF TERMS	
1.8.1 Nutritional Status	
1.8.2 Eating Habits	23
1.8.3 Socio-cultural Factors	
1.8.3.1Psycho-socialFactors	
1.8.3.2 Cultural F actors.	
1.8.3.3 Household Characteristics	
1.8.4 Eating Disorders	
1.9 Conceptual Framework	25
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	27
2.1 Introduction	27
2.2 NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF ADOLESCENT GIRLS	27
2.2.1 Nutritional needs of Adolescent Girls	27
2.2.2 Adolescent Nutrition in Developing Countries	29
2.3 EATING HABITSAMONG ADOLESCENTS	
2.4Factors Influencing Eating Habits	
2.4.1Eating Disorders	
2.4.2 Nutrition Transition and eating habits in Developing Countries	
2.5EATING HABITS AND NUTRITIONALSTATUS OF ADOLESCENT GIRLS	
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	41
3.1 Research Design	41
3.2 Study Area	41
3.3 STUDY POPULATION	42
3.4 SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION	42
3.5 SAMPLING PROCEDURE	43
3.6 DATA COLLECTION INSTRUMENTS AND PROCEDURES	44

3.6.1 Data Collection Instruments	44
3.6.2 Data Collection Procedures	44
3.6.2.1Anthropometric Measurements	44
3.6.2.2Administration of the Questionnaire	46
3.6.2.3 Weight-Related Attitudes	46
3.6.2.4 Self Esteem	46
3.6.2.5Household Characteristics	47
3.7 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY OF INSTRUMENTS	47
3.8 Measurement of Variables	48
3.8.1 Nutritional Status	
3.8.2 Eating Habits	49
3.8.3. Socio-Cultural Factors	49
3.8.3.1 Weight related attitudes	49
3.8.3.2 Self Esteem	
3.8.3.3 Household characteristics	
3.8.3.4 Cultural factors	50
3.9 Statistical Data Analysis	50
3.10 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
	= 2
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	52
4.1 RESPONDENTS CHARACTERISTICS	52
4.2 NUTRITION STATUS OF SCHOOL GOING ADOLESCENT GIRLS IN KISUMU CITY	52
4.3 EATING HABITS PRACTICED BY SCHOOL GOING ADOLESCENT GIRLS	54
4.3.1 Skipping Meals	54
4.3.1.1 Reasons for Skipping Breakfast	54
4.3.1.2 Reasons for Skipping Lunch	55
4.3.1.3 Reason for Skipping Dinner	55
4.3.2 Snacking	
4.3.2.1 Reasons for Snacking	57
4.3.3 Binge Eating	
4.3.4 Vegetable Consumption	
4.3.5. Fruits Consumption	59
4.4 FACTORS INFLUENCING EATING HABITS	60
4.4. 1 Household Characteristics	60
4.4.2 Importance of Body Weight	61
4.4.3 Self Esteem	62
4.4.4 Eating Disorders	62
4.5.1 Binge Eating	63
4.5.4 Factors that Influenced Fruit Consumption	68
5.5.5 Factors that influenced Vegetable Consumption	70
	72
5.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARTICIPANTS	72
5.2 NUTRITION STATUS OF SCHOOL GOING ADOLESCENT GIRLS IN KISUMU CITY	72
5.3. EATING HABITS	75
5.4 FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE EATING HABITS	81
5.5 NUTRITION STATUS AND EATING HABITS	84
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	86
6.1 Conclusion	86

6.2Recommendations	.87
6.3Further Research	.88
REFERENCES	.89
APPENDICES1	05
APPENDIX 1: RESEARCH PERMIT1	05
APPENDIX 2: MINISTRY OF EDUCATION APRROVAL FOR RESEARCH1	07
APPENDIX 3: SCHOOLS IN KISUMU1	08
APPENDIX 4: MAP OFSECONDAY SCHOOLS IN KISUMU1	09
APPENDIX 5: QUESTIONNAIRRE1	10

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BMI:	Body Mass Index
CDC:	Centres for Disease Control
DSM-IV:	Diagnostic Statistical Manual- IV
FANTA:	Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance
FBP:	Food by Prescription
FGD:	Focused group Discussions
AIDS :	Acquired Immuno Deficiency Syndrome
IFIC:	International Food Information Council
KDHS:	Kenya Demographic and Health Survey
KEMRI:	Kenya Medical Research Institute
KI:	Key Informant
MOH:	Ministry of Health
MOE:	Ministry Of Education
MUAC:	Mid-Upper arm circumference
NASCOP:	Kenya National AIDS and STI Control Program
SCN:	Standing Committee on Nutrition
SD:	Standard Deviation
UNICEF:	United Nation Children's Fund
USAID:	The United States Agency for international Development
VAD:	Vitamin A Deficiency
VCT:	Voluntary Counselling and Testing
WHO:	World Health Organization

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: BMI classification by class	53
Table 4.2: Who the respondents binged with	
Table 4.3: Respondents and households characteristics	61
Table 4.4: Eating disorder responses	63
Table 4.5: Factors influencing binge eating	64
Table 4.6: Factors that independently influence binge eating	65
Table 4.7: Factors that influenced snacking	66
Table 4.8: Factors that influenced skipping of meals	67
Table 4.9: Factors that independently influenced skipping of meals	68
Table 4.10: Factors that influence fruit consumption (Bivariate regression)	69
Table 4.11: Factors that independently influenced fruit Consumption	70
Table 4.12: Factors influencing eating vegetable consumption	70
Table 4.13: The relationship between eating habits and nutrition Status	71
Table 4.14: The relationship between eating habits and nutrition status	71

LIST OF FIGURES

25
53
57
57
59
50
52

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Adolescence is a vital stage that occurs between 10 and 19 years, and is characterized by rapid growth and acquisition of adult physical appearance as well as hormonal and sexual change. This contributes to a wide fluctuation in metabolic rates and food needs (Beard, 2002 and Nsubuga, 2014). Adolescents form a quarter of the world's population (UNFPA, 2012) and about 85% of them live in developing countries Delisle *et al.*, (1999) and SCN, (2006). In the least developed countries, adolescents comprise 23% of the population, 19% in developing countries and 12% in industrialized countries (UNICEF, 2012). In Kenya, they comprise 23.8% of the population (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2010). Total nutrient needs are higher during adolescence than any other time in the lifecycle (Duyff *et al.*, 2002, Story and Stang, 2005).

According to Adolescent Nutrition (2013), there is a greater demand for calories and nutrients due to the dramatic increase in physical growth and development during this stage, over a relatively short period. Physical changes during adolescence affect the body's nutritional needs, while lifestyle changes may affect eating habits and food choices, thus increasing vulnerability to nutritional problems (Adolescent Medicines Committee, 2005). Adolescents form a significant proportion of the population globally, while this life stage is important in human development they remain highly vulnerable to nutrition problems and therefore consideration of their nutrition status remains vital for wellbeing.

Despite being an important stage in human growth, because of perceived low prevalence of nutrition and health related problems in this group compared to children under five and the elderly, it has been given little health and nutrition attention (Senderrowitz, 1995), which

persists, as observed by Mwadime (2013). Developing countries have mostly focused on household food security and malnutrition in children under five years of age, pregnant and lactating mothers (WHO, 2005; Mwadime, 2011). Adolescence being a period characterised by rapid growth, meeting nutritional requirements to cater for the increased metabolic rate poses a challenge making adolescents more susceptible to dietary inadequacy (Mwadime, 2011).

Increased growth spurts, complex hormonal changes, and emotional and mental development increases adolescents' vulnerability to malnutrition (Laura, 2012). There is generally increased need of carbohydrates for energy, protein for increased muscle mass and growth; and other micronutrients such as iron, iodine and vitamins are required in larger quantities. If the increased nutrient needs are not met, adolescents become susceptible to nutrition related problems (IFIC Foundation, 2007). Unfortunately, in both developing and developed countries, nutritional needs and problems experienced during this stage have been given little attention (Mwadime, 2011; WHO, 2005).

Malnutrition in form of both under and over-nutrition has been reported in adolescents. An estimated 27% of adolescent girls in developing countries were reported to be underweight (Klindera *et al.*, 2004), and the prevalence has risen in the last decade to 41% in 2012, mostly in Asia and Africa as reported by Balci *et al.*, (2012). In an early study, Leenstra *et al.*, (2005) reported a prevalence of 15.6% thinness among adolescent school girls in Western Kenya. Cheryl *et al.*, (2012) showed that the prevalence of overweight had doubled among adolescents in the preceding decade mostly in developed countries and urban areas, reporting a prevalence of 17.2% and 14.5% overweight and obesity, respectively, among adolescent girls aged 10-19 years in the USA. This trend was corroborated by CDC, (2014) which

reported that the prevalence of obesity among adolescents aged 12–19 years increased from 5% to nearly 21% from 1980 to 2012.

This data on adolescent girls is of notable concern because overweight adolescents are at increased risk of becoming overweight adults, while undernourished girls are likely to be less productive currently especially in school which may ultimately affect their productivity in adulthood. UNICEF, (2012) indicates that malnutrition during adolescence is likely to affect not only weight-for-height but also attainment of maximum height resulting in stunting. Stunted women are likely to have poor pregnancy outcomes and a higher chance of having obstructed labour. There is however little information on nutrition status of adolescent girls in Kenya making it difficult to conclusively understand the prevalence of malnutrition in this group across the country, hence to adequately address the nutritional needs and problems they experience. It is important to assess the nutrition status of adolescent girls to be able to corroborate the above literature or come up with a clear statement on whether or not the nutrition status of adolescent girls in Kenya differs from what has been reported in other countries.

Adolescence involves emerging autonomy and independence (Degner and Klockow, 2013). With increasing numbers of friends outside the family and leisure time outside the home, parents and teachers experience decreasing control over what and when adolescents eat. Family meals equally become less frequent in adolescence, (Story & Neumark- Sztainer, 2005). Moreover, menstruation, high cases of early pregnancies, cultural attitudes regarding intra-household food distribution and beauty as portrayed in both local and Western media, render girls more vulnerable to malnutrition than boys.

In developed countries use of fast foods, snacking, skipping meals and binge eating are very common among adolescent girls (Chapman, 1996). Personal preferences take precedence over eating habits learned at home, as adolescents progressively take control of what they eat, where and how. Shepherd et al., (1996), Delisle et al., (1999) and Videon and Manning, (2003) also reported that some eating habits appear to be common among adolescents. These included snacking, usually on energy-dense foods; meal skipping, particularly breakfast, or irregular meals; wide use of fast food, dieting low consumption of fruits, vegetables, and dairy products in some instances. Delisle et al., (1999) observed that most adolescent girls in the United States of America initiate unhealthy dieting at some point in time especially between 16-18 years, with an aim of losing weight. Studies by Bulik (2000) established a relationship between dieting and development of eating disorders such as anorexia and bulimia, binge eating, unusual food choices and skipping of meals common in college students. Kilindera (2006) also reported that increasing incidences of malnutrition among adolescent girls in developed countries, believed to have adequate food, is linked to poor eating habits. This indicates that eating habits evident in adolescence in these contexts may result in malnutrition. This information is however mostly based on studies in the west, there is limited information on eating habits among adolescent girls in developing countries.

Milosavljević, *et al.*, (2015) reported that there is a strong influence of globalization facilitating fast spread of unhealthy eating habit globally including South America and Europe, while noting low level of information on appropriate eating habits particularly among overweight adolescents in developed countries and generally among adolescent girls in developing countries. In developing countries, poor nutrition has mainly been associated with household food insecurity and distribution among family members as well as lack of prioritization of adolescent nutrition in national policy-making processes and resultant

policies (Mwadime, 2011). However, according to Yamamura (2010) there has been tremendous change in lifestyles due to Western influence through media and urbanization, which has impacted the general perception of beauty and perfection among this group and the society in general.

Acknowledging the impact of globalization and urbanization on eating habits among adolescents, Ganasegeran, (2012) reported that environmental factors also contribute to adoption of unhealthy eating habits among adolescence while mushrooming of shopping malls, convenience stores, vending machines and fast food outlets have created an alarming situation for young adults to practice unhealthy eating habits. These trends in urbanisation are now also evident in developing countries. Milosavljević (2015) reported that maternal education, knowledge on eating appropriate diets, income significantly influenced eating habits among adolescents in Europe and North America.

According to Gunasegaram, (2012), both psychological such as self-esteem, weight related attitude and social demographic, such: age, ethnicity, household income, as well as maternal and education influenced eating habits among medical university students some of whom were adolescent girls. This evidence, however, is mainly derived from Western contexts. Studies carried out in Africa, including: Ethiopia, Nigeria, Egypt, Cameroon and western Kenya have mostly concentrated on skipping meals – which may be associated with food security; but have not looked beyond this, to factors that may portray a deliberate effort to manipulate food consumption as observed in the West; nor have they addressed potential factors that may determine broader behaviours related to nutrition status. It is necessary to assess what factors influence eating habits among adolescent girls in developing country contexts to broaden our understanding of nutrition during this life-stage.

Evidence suggests potential exhibition, in developing countries, of some dietary habits observed in developed countries. The Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs (2011) reported that contrary to the belief that food security solely determines nourishment in developing countries, eating habits and food culture tend to have a significant influence on nutrition especially among girls. This raises the question on whether, eating habits emulated from the West may exist in developing country contexts such as Kenya or whether eating habits in Kenyan context are unique; whether, adolescent eating habits in Kenya could explain some of the malnutrition (either under or over nutrition) that may exist, hence whether the relationships between eating habits and nutritional status in contexts such as Kenya do or do not mimic those observed in Western countries.

Concerns presented in literature underpin the necessity to understand adolescent nutrition and address attendant problems. Douketis *et al.*, (1999) emphasizes that prevention is crucial, and adolescents should be a priority target, even in developing countries, particularly in urban settings. They further observed that inappropriate eating patterns and lifestyle are more likely to occur in urban settings due to ongoing nutrition transition related to globalization and urbanization. Trends in food habits, perceptions and choices are strongly correlated with rapid urbanization in most urban areas in developing countries to increased exposure to western culture through the media, (Kurz, 1996 and WHO, 2002) and more recently social media. Wahl, (1999), recommends that since eating habits are mainly formed during adolescence, programmes targeting this group, especially for obesity, are likely to be more successful than in adulthood.

Kisumu, being the third largest City in Kenya, undergoing rapid urbanization; and a centre of civilization in western Kenya, is known to be relatively food secure Kenya National Bureau

of Statistics and ICF Macro (2010) due to its proximity to food producing communities. The City is rapidly growing with a growing number of middle-income families that have good access to media and social media, which as alluded to, have major influence on adolescent girls while still considered relatively food secure. Kisumu has several day schools where girls have the flexibility to choose what to either eat from school, at home or purchase food from the surrounding markets and *Kiosks* as opposed to boarding schools where the diet is more restricted and choice is limited. Kisumu therefore provides an ideal environment to assess eating habits of adolescents, their determinants and effects on their nutrition status.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

Adolescents form about a quarter of the Kenyan population, have the highest total nutrient needs rendering them vulnerable to nutrition problems, yet fall in the life-stage whose nutrition has been given little attention; with few programmes and policies targeting this group. Of adolescents in Africa and Asia, 41% are reported to be underweight having risen from 27% at a time when reported prevalence in a study conducted in western Kenya was 15.6%. This suggests that alongside the increase in underweight observed generally in Africa and Asia, currently the prevalence in Kenya may have risen given the global trends. Overweight in adolescents more than tripled in the USA between 1980 and 2012, and possibly continues to rise given current trends. Although underweight has been reported in adolescents in some studies in Africa, not much information is available on overweight in Africa. There is however need to establish the prevalence of both these forms of malnutrition in order to effectively address potential problems in this age group.

To compound this lack of information on adolescent nutritional status, evidence from developed countries indicate an association between eating habits and nutrition status of adolescents arising from the concern with body image, especially of girls. Media is implicated in transmission of behaviours linked to unhealthy eating habits, and the rapid urbanisation occurring in developing countries has increased access of adolescents to western influence that may affect their eating habits, hence nutrition status. It is not clear however, whether eating habits observed in the west, and their attendant influence on nutrition status may exist in African contexts, further compromising the nutrition status of adolescents. Such information would help address potential nutrition problems that may occur in adolescents. Rapid urbanisation in Kisumu, the third largest city in Kenya, facilitating access of adolescents to Western influence, provides a suitable setting to explore these questions.

1.3 Broad Objective

To investigate eating habits and their association with nutritional status of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu city

1.4 Specific Objectives of the Study

- i. To assess the nutritional status of adolescent girls
- ii. To identify eating habits practiced by adolescent girls in Kisumu City
- iii. To establish factors determining eating habits in adolescent girls.
- iv. To assess the relationship between eating habits and nutritional status of adolescent girls.

1.5 Research Questions

- i. What is the nutritional status of adolescent girls in Kisumu town
- ii. What are the eating habits practised by adolescent girls in Kisumu City
- iii. What factors influence eating habits in adolescent girls

20

iv. What is the relationship between eating habits and nutritional status of adolescent girls in Kisumu City?

1.5 Justification of the Study

Adolescence is a vital stage in human development as is a precursor for development of particular food habits, while nutrition status in this group has great influence on their health status in adulthood. Assessing the nutrition status will provide information on the prevalence of over and under nutrition in this group; hence the extent of malnutrition. Since health of adolescent girls is important because they will soon become mothers and their growth in part determines their ability to carry successful pregnancies. Understanding the nutrition status in this group is therefore vital in addressing nutritional needs and defining the level and type of nutritional investment relevant to this group by the Ministry of Health and other development actors in Kenya.

Eating habits and nutrition status of this group is believed to determine the well-being of the next generation. Information on eating habits of this group will help determine whether or not they may promote or deter healthy nutritional status in adolescents in an urban setting. Knowledge of factors that influence the eating habits would provide some understanding on what modifiable factors may be targeted to influence positive eating habits among adolescents. Information on the relationship between eating habits and nutrition status will provide insight on eating habits that may affect nutritional status among adolescents, hence inform the focus for addressing adolescent nutritional status.

1.6 Scope of the Study

The research was undertaken in Kisumu city. The study findings are restricted to school going adolescent girls in an urban setting. The study findings can be used as a reference but cannot be used to conclusively describe the nutrition status and eating habits among adolescent girls in rural areas or those out of school as nutrition status in these two groups could be affected by other dynamics. The study was designed with an assumption that BMI for age using weight for height would adequately define nutrition status in adolescent girls. The study was also confined to day schools because unlike boarding schools whereas students are confined within the school compound with limited access to food, students in day schools have access to foods other than the defined school meals.

1.7 Limitations of the Study

Whereas restricting the study to day schools to address the need for choice by the adolescent girls, which is not enabled in boarding school settings, this may limit the generalizability of the results to a broader context of adolescent girls which includes those in boarding schools. Similarly, the results may not apply to adolescents in rural settings, and those out of school. However this restriction improves the validity of the results to determine the association between eating habits and nutrition status of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City.

1.8 Definition of Terms

1.8.1 Nutritional Status

In this study nutrition status was determined by BMI - for - age computed from individual weight and height as per the WHO recommendation and classification (WHO, 1995). BMI for age was taken into account as the best variable to ascertain the nutrition status because it

had had clear international accepted cut off points and takes into consideration the age of the girls

1.8.2 Eating Habits

Eating habits were defined as skipping meals, snacking, consumption of junk food, binge eating and low vegetable and fruit intake beyond pre-defined limits. Eating habits are described as:

- i. Snacking in this study was defined as taking meals in between the three standards meals.
- ii. According to DSM-5 Binge eating episodes are associated with three (or more) of the following: eating much more rapidly than normal, eating until feeling uncomfortably full, eating large amounts of food when not feeling physically hungry, eating alone because of being embarrassed by how much one is eating, feeling disgusted with oneself, depressed, or very guilty after overeating. In this study, binge eating, was defined as the frequency with which an individual consumed excess food, more rapidly than normal and continued consumption of food even without feeling physically hungry. An adolescent girl was considered to binge eat if at least one episode of bingeing was reported.
- iii. Skipping meals was defined as consuming less than 67% (less than 3meals) of the normal daily meals.
- iv. Vegetable and fruits consumption was defined as having two or more servings of fruits and vegetables per day.

1.8.3 Socio-cultural Factors

1.8.3.1Psycho-socialFactors

These both social and psychological factors affected how school going adolescent girls consumed their meals. They included; when they consumed their meals, where they found their meals and what influenced their meal intake. They also included Weight-related perception and attitudes which in this study perception and motivation was defined as how adolescent girls perceive their bodies, what they understand as beauty and their knowledge on food, health and optimal nutrition. This also included self-esteem which was defined as how adolescent girls felt was their worth

1.8.3.2 Cultural F actors,

This is factors defined in terms of how food was consumed, where it was sourced, and with whom it was consumed as these factors are culturally entrenched in Kenyan communities

1.8.3.3 Household Characteristics

Household characteristic were defined as number of household members, maternal and paternal education level, maternal and paternal occupation. Education was defined in terms of the number of years of schooling, with zero years defined as no education, 8 years of schooling being equivalent to primary education. 12 years as secondary education and more than 12 defined as having attained tertiary education. Occupation was defined as waged labour, business, house wife, and employment.

1.8.4 Eating Disorders

Eating was defined anorexia that was defined as uncontrolled compulsive urge to avoid food consumption and bulimia defined as eating food and then compulsively forcing one to purge

24

1.9 Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework was adapted from a study by Delisle *et al.*, (1999) which noted an increase in the rates of malnutrition among adolescent girls in developed countries despite availability of adequate food. The study also noted that eating habits in this group were frequently erratic that could be associated with increased nutritional risk in developed countries. Many studies conducted in developing countries, particularly in Kenya have associated nutrition status with the level of household food security. Studies in developed countries however show a strong relationship between eating habits and nutrition status. Nutrition transition as a result of globalization, urbanization and development, is likely to cause changes in food patterns, choices and preferences in Kenya that could affect nutrition status of adolescents despite the level of household food security. The framework has been modified for causal and outcome analysis of eating habits in adolescent girls, thus focusing on the first two aspects of the framework by Delisle *et al.*, (1999)



Figure 1: Conceptual Framework, adapted from Delisle et al., (1999)

In this study, eating habits identified as snacking, binge eating, skipping meals, vegetable and fruit consumption were assessed as possible causative factors of nutrition status through dietary adequacy. Socio-cultural factors and eating disorders were analysed to establish how they affected eating habits. The identified eating habits were analysed as factors with the potential of influencing nutrition status.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Adolescents are considered relatively healthy compared to other lifecycle groups, because they have low prevalence of infections compared to children under five years of age; and low prevalence of chronic diseases compared to ageing people (Senderowitz, 2004). Because of this, health and nutritional concerns in this group have generally been accorded little attention. Traditionally, pre-school age children have been targeted as nutritionally vulnerable groups in developing countries, while in industrialized countries the focus tends to be on nutrition related chronic diseases of an ageing population (Delisle *et al.*, 1999).The observation by Leenstra *et al.*, (2005) that there is relatively little information available about the nutritional status of adolescents mostly in developing countries such as Kenya in comparison to other groups even though adolescence is an age group with the highest growth velocity after infancy; still holds true, more than one decade later.

This literature review focuses on nutrition status of adolescent girls, their nutritional needs and the nutrition situation of adolescent girls in developing countries. Finally, it provides an overview of eating habits and their implications on nutritional status of adolescent girls.

2.2 Nutritional Status of Adolescent Girls

2.2.1 Nutritional needs of Adolescent Girls

Adolescence is the only time following infancy when the rate of physical growth actually increases. This sudden growth spurt is associated with hormonal, cognitive, and emotional changes that make this stage an especially vulnerable period of life (WHO, 2005). The dramatic increase in physical growth and development over a relatively short period of time imposes a greater demand for calories and nutrients; and poor nutrition during this stage can

have lasting consequences on an adolescent's physical and cognitive development (Adolescent Nutrition, 2013).

Adolescence is a crucial period for skeletal mass and sexual development. About 15-25% of the adult height is achieved and 45% of the skeletal development occurs during this period (Rees, 2006). About 1200- 1500mg calcium is required per day, for bone development and to prevent early onset of osteoporosis in adulthood (Theobald, 2005). Maximum height gain is associated with reduced risk of obstetric complications in girls (Bisai, 2010). Protein needs increase due to increased muscle mass, with about 14 - 46g and 45 - 59g of protein being required per day for boys and girls respectively, to sustain their daily needs and maintain Nitrogen reserves (Aerenhouts *et al.*, 2013). As the metabolic demand for growth and energy increases, caloric needs also increase. Because of diversified growth patterns, individual caloric needs are varied but girls generally require fewer calories than boys. About 2200 and 2500-3000kcal per day is required for girls and boys respectively (William, 1994).To meet these calorie needs, adolescents should choose a variety of healthy foods, such as complex carbohydrates from whole grain, lean protein sources, low-fat dairy products, fruits, and vegetables, (Duyff *et al.*, 2002); emphasising the need for attention to diet in this period.

As adolescents gain muscle mass, more iron is needed to help new muscle cells obtain oxygen for energy and replace lost blood in girls. Jennifer *et al.*, (2012), in a study conducted in Nigeria, documented that requirement for iron is even higher in developing than in developed countries; and that infections such as malaria, schistosomiasis and hookworm, and other inflammations, significantly increased iron depletion and reduced its absorption in these contexts. Iron deficiency is associated with limited growth during adolescence, and anaemia that leads to fatigue, confusion, and weakness. Adolescent boys need 12 milligrams of iron each day, while girls need 15 milligrams (Amy, 2006 and Bailey *et al.*, 2011). Vitamin A is important for growth, development and sexual maturation, with a positive association being reported between plasma retinol and indices of sexual maturation (Brabin *et al.*, 2005 and Herbert *et al.*, 2002). The importance of folate, iodine, zinc and vitamin Bcomplex in adolescent nutrition is also noted because of the nutrients' vital role in growth and metabolism (Ransom, 2003). Increased nutrient and caloric needs in adolescence, with higher demand for some nutrients, especially micronutrients, in girls compared to boys is therefore evident.

2.2.2 Adolescent Nutrition in Developing Countries

In developing countries, nutritional problems have mostly been linked to poor dietary intake related to food insecurity, intra-household food distribution and cultural preference of certain foods rather than eating habits (Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs, 2011). The prevalence of malnutrition among adolescent girls in developing countries is very high. In Tanzania, Chen (2012) reported that adolescent girls' diets were largely deficient in macronutrients and micronutrients, with the mean intake of energy and protein being 810kcals/day and 21.9grams/day, respectively, reporting 16.2% and 62.2%, underweight and stunting respectively.

Malnutrition in adolescent populations is the main cause of slowed growth and height gain in developing countries. This results in stunting and delayed onset of menarche by an average of 24 months further affecting girls (Proos & Gustafsson, 2012). Inadequate nutrition is also associated with poor skeletal growth, contracted pelvis and difficult labour. Therefore, low maternal height as a result of poor nutrition is directly linked to high maternal and infant mortality in African countries. Leenstra *et al.*, (2005) reported 12.1% and 2.0% moderate and

severe stunting and severe underweight respectively for among adolescent girls in schools in Western Kenya. Recent data in Nigeria reported by Asinobi and Nwankwo (2010) indicate stunting prevalence of 48.4% in adolescent girls in Imo state.

Despite the rapid nutrition and economic transition associated with the increasing levels of overweight and obesity in both developed and developing countries, wasting is still persistent among adolescent girls in both worlds (Chen, 2012). Underweight is quite common in Africa especially among poor communities with girls being more vulnerable than boys. In Nigeria, Asinobi and Nwankwo, (2010) reported 38.2% underweight among adolescent girls while in South Africa, 9.9% girls were reported underweight by (Niekerk, Grimmer & Louw, 2014). Other studies reported varied prevalence of underweight: 58.3% in Tigray, Ethiopia (Afework *et al.*, 2009), 56.4% among adolescent girls in the rural Vizianagaram District (Wasnak *et al.*, 2012), 8.7% (Lazzeri *et al.*, 2008), as well as 5% reported among urban adolescent girls in Yaounde (Dapi *et al.*, 2009). Data on adolescent nutrition status in Kenya has mainly been generated in individual studies. Leenstra *et al.*, (2007) in a study in schools in Western Kenya, reported 15.6% underweight among adolescent girls and resultant delayed start of puberty and menarche by 1.5 years.

These studies reflect a tendency to higher prevalence of underweight in rural areas (Asinobi and Nwankwo, 2010; Afework *et al.*, 2009; Wasnak *et al.*, 2012) than in urban areas (Niekerk, Grimmer & Louw, 2014; Lazzeri *et al.*, 2008; Dapi *et al.*, 2009) ; indicating that underweight may be more of a problem in rural than in urban settings. Although they address prevalence of underweight none provides data on the prevalence of overweight in these countries. According to the Centres for Diseases Control (2002), overweight in children and adolescents had been relatively stable from the 1960s to 1980 in-developed countries but rose

two-fold in the next decades with almost similar trends observed in developing countries over the same period. This points to existence of overweight in developing countries, alongside the evidence presented on underweight.

Most interventions and studies conducted in developing countries have mainly focused on under nutrition, and most studies and policies are geared towards under nutrition. This may be related to the availability of information on underweight rather than the whole spectrum of nutrition status; and the focus on addressing food insecurity. However, obesity is said to be increasingly pandemic in these countries, but is a neglected public health problem (Wang *et al.*, 2002). There is little data on obesity worldwide particularly in developing countries but existing data is sufficient to show that the rate of obesity among adolescent girls is notably high particularly in urban settings (WHO, 2006). Although adolescent girls remain vulnerable to nutrition problems, there is lack of comprehensive and conclusive information on the extent and forms of malnutrition among adolescent girls in developing countries particularly Africa. More data reflecting the status of both under-nutrition and over-nutrition is necessary to effectively address adolescent nutrition in developing countries.

2.3 Eating Habits among Adolescents

Eating habits according to Rodriguez, (2009) refers to why and how people eat, which foods they eat, and with whom they eat, as well as the ways people obtain, store, use, and discard food. People eat according to learned behaviours regarding etiquette, meal and snack patterns, acceptable foods, food combinations, and portion sizes. Healthy eating is vital for adolescents' health and well-being. Contrary to the belief that food security solely determines nourishment in developing countries eating habits and food culture tend to have a significant influence on nutrition especially among girls (Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs, 2011). Good eating habits help prevent chronic illness in future, including obesity, heart disease, cancer and diabetes. Evidence from developed countries indicate that eating habits are frequently erratic in adolescents and this may be a common factor of nutritional risk (Barooah, 2012).

According to Delisle *et al.*, (1999) adolescents' food choices are primarily determined by psycho-social factors. Ganasegeran *et al.*, (2012) in a study in a Malaysian medical school also concluded that psychological factors were important determinants of eating habits among medical students, the study reported that behavioural control, and body image and perception significantly influenced eating habits mostly among female students. Considering that nutritional needs of teens vary tremendously, but increase due to the rapid growth and changes in body composition that occur during puberty (Baldwin *et al.*, 1998); eating habits in this group are likely to have a significant impact on nutrition status and general growth.

During adolescence, personal preferences take precedence over eating habits learned at home as adolescents progressively take control of what they eat, where and how they eat (Shepherd *et al.*, 1996). This is likely to define the eating habits they adopt that may or may not favour good nutrition. Search for identity; struggle for independence and acceptance; concern about appearance; vulnerability to peer pressure; and limited concern for health are features that are quite typical of adolescents, and have a bearing on diets (Spear, 1996 and WHO, 2005). Unfortunately, more often than not these eating habits are likely to lead to poor food choices rather than good ones with girls being more exposed than boys to inadequate intakes because of dieting, lower energy intake, social discrimination, and pregnancy (Ganasegeran *et al.*, 2012). This makes them more vulnerable to effects of eating habits. Most of the data that forms supporting evidence on this has been generated in developed country contexts.

Initial data on eating habits and associations between eating habits and nutritional status were reflected in early studies in developed countries. Kilindera (2006) reported that increasing incidences of malnutrition among adolescent girls in developed countries, believed to have adequate food, is linked to poor eating habits. According to Shepherd *et al.*, (1996) in a study conducted in California State, some eating habits appear to be common among adolescents. These included snacking, usually on energy-dense foods; meal skipping, particularly breakfast, or irregular meals; wide use of fast food, dieting low consumption of fruits, vegetables, and dairy products in some instances. A later study conducted in California by Videon and Manning (2003) established that one in five adolescents had skipped breakfast the previous day and 71% had taken less than the recommended vegetable servings. This shows the habits identified earlier were still evident, and tended towards poor eating habits that are likely to affect the overall nutrition status of girls during a very crucial stage of growth and development.

Although several studies have been carried out on eating habits, in developing countries they are mainly localized and targeted very small samples sizes making it difficult to conclusively establish the scope of eating habits and its impact on adolescent girls in developing countries. There is insufficient information on eating habits of adolescents in these contexts, to inform policies and programmes to support appropriate eating habits for optimal nutrition. Globalization, urbanization and nutrition transition greatly contribute to changes in eating habits mostly among youth in urban settings particularly in adolescent girls. With a possibility of these eating habits identified in developed countries have found their way to developing countries urban centres (Mallick *et al.*, (2014). This could include rapidly urbanizing cities like such as Kisumu in Kenya.

Although poor nutritional status has mainly been associated with household food insecurity in developing country contexts (Mwadime, 2011), a potential role of eating habits, especially among adolescent girls cannot be ignored. Yamamura (2010) points out that there has been tremendous change in lifestyles due to western influence through the media and urbanization, which has impacted the general perception of beauty and perfection among this group and the society in general. Similarly, the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs (2011) reported that contrary to the belief that food security solely determines nourishment in developing countries, eating habits and food culture tend to have a significant influence on nutrition especially among girls. This raises the question on whether, eating habits reported in developed countries may exist in developing country contexts such as Kenya, possibly contributing to some of the cases of under nutrition observed among adolescent girls; or whether eating habits observed are unique to developing country contexts.

2.4 Factors Influencing Eating Habits

Eating habits are determined by different factors among adolescents. Neumark-Sztaine *et al.*, (2012) in their assessment of adolescents' perceptions about factors influencing their food choices and eating behaviours, reported that hunger and food cravings, appeal of food, time considerations of adolescents and parents, convenience of food, food availability and parental influence determined how adolescents choose their food. Ganasegeran *et al.*, (2012) in his study in a Malaysian University reported that social and psychological factors were important determinants of eating habits among medical students aged 18-20. Videon and Manning (2003); as well as Adair and Popkin (2005) found a correlation between maternal education, place of food consumption, culture, food perception and body image with eating habits in adolescents.

Major barriers to eating more fruits, vegetables, and dairy products and eating fewer high-fat foods included a lack of sense of urgency about personal health in relation to other concerns, and taste preferences for other foods (Neumark-Sztaine *et al.*, 2012). Fitzgerald *et al.*, (2010) further reported developmental differences between children's and adolescents' perceptions of factors influencing food choices with parental control diminishing and adolescents' exercise of increased autonomy over their food choices compared with children. Factors such as the quest for independence and acceptance by peers, increased mobility, and greater time spent at school/college and/or work activities and preoccupation with self-image may affect adolescent's food choices. Busy schedules may lead to meal skipping and snacking (Barooa, 2012). All these factors are likely to contribute to the reported erratic and unhealthy eating behaviours that are common among adolescents.

Age has been found to be predictor of dietary habits not only when comparing children and adolescents, but also when consumption in different age groups within adolescence is investigated (Henningsen, 2011). Socioeconomic position is a key determinant of eating habits as reported by several studies, according to Davies *et al.*, (2009) socio-economic factors some of the most formidable and least changeable. Several studies have found that families with low socioeconomic position tend to have unhealthier diets than those with higher socioeconomic position (Fahlman *et al.*, 2010, Nilsen *et al.*, 2009). Adolescents from low position families often have a lower consumption of fruits, vegetables (Bere, *et al.*, 2008); Proos *et al.*, 2012) and dairy products (Larson *et al.*, 2006) than adolescents with higher socioeconomic position.

Self- esteem has been associated with eating habits. (Kansi *et al.* 2003, Daee *et al.* 2002, French *et al.* 2001) reported that low self-esteem is a risk factor for developing eating

disorders, and generally plays a role in development of eating habits especially among girls. However, Soo *et al.* (2008) found self-esteem to only be associated with binge eating, but not restrained dietary habits, which was associated with the fact that attitudes from peers and observation of their habits have shown to influence both self-esteem and body image in adolescent girls. However the study noted that, culture, religion, body image, habit, cost, media were of high significance in adolescent girls eating habits than boys. Using the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, it will be interesting to assess the self-esteem of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu city as further analyse if it influences eating habits

2.4.1 Eating Disorders

Eating disorders influence dietary habits. These disorders are marked by extreme severe disturbances in eating behaviour, such as extreme reduction of food intake or extreme overeating, or feelings of extreme distress or concern about body weight or shape (National Institute of Mental Health, 2007). Eating disorders are complex illnesses that have been reported to affect adolescents with increasing frequency. They rank as the third most common chronic illness among adolescent females, with an incidence of up to 5% in developed countries (Mitchell *et al.*,2005); a rate that has increased dramatically over the past three decades. Three major subgroups of the disorders are recognized: a restrictive form, in which food intake is severely limited (anorexia nervosa); a bulimic form, in which eating is followed by attempts to minimize the effects of overeating via vomiting, catharsis, exercise or fasting (bulimia nervosa); and binge eating defined as recurrent consumption of objectively large quantities of food in a defined period (DSM-IV, 1994). Eating disorders are related to the severity and duration of dysfunctional dietary habits (Adolescent Medicines Committee, 2005); and are therefore associated with poor nutrition status.
There is limited data on eating disorders in developing countries with most studies confined to developed countries. Given that eating disorders affect food intake, they are likely to influence eating habits particularly among adolescent girls who are most vulnerable to eating habits in comparison to other groups (Szabo *et al.*, 2009). Eating disorders have been reported to affect food choices and eating habits particularly among adolescent girls and young women in developed countries. Habits established during childhood and adolescence (including eating habits) tends to persist into adulthood with consequences for long-term health (reference). There is however, lack of information on the existence of eating disorders in African contexts.

2.4.2 Nutrition Transition and eating habits in Developing Countries

Developing countries have experienced an accelerated rate of development and urbanization during the last decades, causing rapid livelihood changes, (Popkin, 1999). This has resulted in changes in cultures and food ecology among communities in developing countries. There is a rapid nutrition transition mainly in urban areas. Societal transition has further resulted in an influx of people from rural areas to urban areas. This migration is coupled with lifestyle and food supply changes that have led to diet changes (Egolf *et al.*, 1992).

Urban diets show shifting trends from diets rich in fibre, minerals and vitamins to greater consumption of polished grains, food higher in fat, more animal products, more sugar, and more processed foods (Lasker *et al.*, 1994). These processes have made urban populations in lower income countries more susceptible to overweight, obesity and lifestyle related non-communicable diseases (Popkin, 2002). This transition is likely to lead to adoption of new eating habits among adolescents that are traditionally not practised particularly in urban areas. Ganasegeran *et al.*, (2012) noted that adolescents in rural and urban areas are likely to

be affected by this transition, adolescents in urban areas were three times more likely to be affected by these changes and therefore more likely to adopt new eating habits.

Urbanization has also led to increased number of fast food and vending shops. Most adolescents eat away from home; therefore, habitually buy food from these stores as they are convenient and mostly cost effective (Adair and Popkin, 2005). Food taken by adolescents is very high in energy but inadequate in essential nutrients such as iron, vitamin A vitamin D and Zinc (Durrani, 2005; Esfarjani *et al.*, 2005; Mac Keown *et al.*, 2005). Rapid urbanization and its impact on societal norms is likely to have affected socio cultural factors that traditionally determined eating habits.

Studies in African and Asian countries show that nutrition transition linked to urbanization and globalization has led to changes in eating habits particularly for urban dwellers. The most affected populations are adolescent girls because of cultural and biological predispositions that make them more vulnerable than boys. A study by WHO, (2006) reported that obesity and societal recognition of thin women contributed to unhealthy eating habits among adolescent girls in both developed and developing countries in Europe and South America. The study also reported that eating habits in developing countries such as, Bangladesh, Malaysia, Pakistan and Palestine give a strong indication that there is a shift from the traditional eating habits to western meal patterns. WHO, (2006) identified increasing number of fast food outlets, meals consumed away from home as factors leading to poor eating habits that ultimately explained increasing prevalence of obesity and non-communicable diseases in developing countries including Africa. It is therefore important to pinpoint what factors determine eating habits among adolescent girls in Kenya, to see if the adolescent girls in a Kenyan context are affected by some of the factors identified in this literature review. Kisumu being a rapidly growing City in Kenya will provide a good setting to assess these eating habits and how they impact nutrition status of adolescents. There is therefore the need to assess factors affecting eating habits in Kisumu to see if and how they compare to those reported above in developed countries to gain insights on adolescent nutrition in a developing country context.

2.5 Eating Habits and Nutritional Status of Adolescent Girls

Concern over adolescent obesity has mounted due to its rapid increase in prevalence, its persistence into adulthood, and its associated morbidity and mortality (WHO, 2006). According to Muammar, Nilsen et al., (2009) numerous studies have demonstrated an association between body weight and eating behaviour: with adolescents who regularly skipped meals especially breakfast and snacked on energy dense foods likely to have higher weight. To the contrary, findings by El-Shafie and Feroze, (2012) showed no significant variation between BMI category and dietary patterns, the dietary pattern of the adolescent females and eating breakfast was associated with more regular eating habits and exercise patterns, healthy food choices and consistent energy intake in children and adolescents. In the United States Rampersaud (2005) reported that although cross sectional studies noted that eating breakfast was associated with a reduced risk for overweight or obesity, in his study in 2009 longitudinal studies were ambiguous and appeared to be mediated by factors such as initial BMI status, physical activity, energy intake and dieting behaviours. Some studies pointed towards an association between eating breakfast and lower BMI, whilst others found either no association or an opposite association between the two, findings that were corroborated by Mesas (2011). It is therefore difficult to conclude if skipping meals has any implication on the nutrition status of adolescent girls. These findings may suggest that associations between dietary habits and nutrition status could differ in different contexts.

In a longitudinal study in 2005 – 2006, higher snacking frequency was associated with higher total calorie intake. Adolescents who had 4 or more snacks in a day consumed over 1.5 times as many calories as did adolescents who reported no snacks (Rhonda, 2010). Although this study associated snacking with increased total caloric intake snacking more frequently was not related to BMI in adolescents. This study however did not report on activity level of the adolescent girls. Steiner-Asiedu *et al.*, (2012) in his justification to carry out a study on Snacking Habits in Junior High School Students in Ghana reported adolescents snack frequently but their choice of snacking foods may be poor. This, he noted, puts them at risk of being overweight. His study however found an inverse relationship between the frequency of snacking daily and the increase in BMI citing snacking may also be associated with weight gain mostly in adults, it important to understand how snacking affects overall nutrition status on adolescent girls in developing countries to see if the trends persist as well assessing how binge eating, vegetable and fruit consumption are likely to impact nutrition status of adolescent girls.

The above literature review shows that under and over nutrition is a concern among adolescent girls, who practise various eating habits that need further analysis especially in a rapidly urbanizing town like Kisumu to assess how they compare to those identified in developed countries that may exist. There is a need to assess factors influencing eating habits and finally determine whether adolescent eating habits in Kenya could explain malnutrition (either under or over nutrition) by analysing the relationship between eating habits and nutrition status of school going adolescent girls

CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This Chapter describes methodological procedures used in the study. It includes description of the research design, study area and population, sampling, data collection tools and data analysis methods that have been used.

3.1 Research Design

A cross-sectional study design was used where information on adolescent girls' eating habits, attitudes, relevant social, cultural and economic factors; and perceptions about food information was gathered. Anthropometric, weight and height, measurements were taken to assess nutrition status.

3.2 Study Area

The study was undertaken in Kisumu City, in Kisumu County, the third largest multi ethnic City in Kenya, the city is predominantly inhabited by the Luo community but also other communities from all over the country including Indians. It is the leading commercial/trading, fishing, industrial, communication and administrative centre in western Kenya. The county shares 52.4% of the national urban population nationally (KIRA, 2014)

Kisumu City has an unemployment of about 30%. Fifty-two percent of the working population is engaged in informal activities with monthly wages in the range of \$30-\$40 (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and ICF Macro. 2010). About 48% of the urban population lives within the absolute poverty bracket. The main sources of income for the poor in this town include: wage employment in manufacturing and processing plants, petty/informal trade, public transportation (boda boda). Key health challenges facing Kisumu

City include high HIV and AIDS infection, Malaria and water borne diseases contributing to the high mortality rate.

3.3 Study Population

The study was carried out among school going girls ages 14-19 years in Kisumu City. It has a population of 390,164 and an approximate population of 28,296 girls aged 14-19 years (Kenyan Census, 2009), while 24,759 (87.5%) were attending school (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and ICF Macro 2010.).the study population was therefore 24,759 school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City

3.4 Sample Size Calculation

The sample size was determined based on the most demanding indicator. WHO recommends the use of BMI based on weight for height as the most reliable measure of nutrition status in adolescents Fisher et al., (1999) equation for representative sample for proportion in large populations was used.

$$n = \underline{Z^2 pd}$$

 d^2

where :

n=the desired sample (if the target population is greater than 10,000)

Z= value of specified level of confidence, set at 1.96

p= the population of adolescent girls

d= the level of statistical significance set at 0.07

Considering

 $Z^2 = 1.96$

$$P=0.5$$

$$q=1-0.5=0.5$$

$$d=was \ set \ at \ 0.07$$

$$n=(\underline{1.96})^2(\underline{0.5})(\underline{0.5})$$

$$(0.07)^2$$

$$n=196$$

Studies by Krista *et al.*, (2001) and Gallant *et al.*, (2001) in adolescent girls indicate a nonresponse rate of 5% to 7%. To cater for non-response a conservative additional figure of 10% was included in the sample to give 215 girls. Considering that data was collected during sports time break as permitted by schools administration to avoid interference with classes, it was expected that the selected girls might not be available and therefore sample size was increased by a further 10% to 235 school going adolescent girls were selected this study.

3.5 Sampling Procedure

The sampling frame included all adolescent girls aged 14-19 years in day schools in Kisumu City. The sampling unit was an adolescent girl aged 14-19 years in day schools. Two stage sampling strategy was used, where a list of all public mixed-day and girls secondary schools was obtained from the Ministry of Education. At the first level stratified sampling was used three schools were randomly selected from a list of all schools in Kisumu City. A list of girls from all schools bearing admission numbers which are unique to each student irrespective of their class was created from the selected schools register books. A representative sample of 235 girls was randomly selected. A list of randomly selected student admission numbers were recorded and then referenced to the school. The list from each school was provided to research assistants and school administration were able to provide the names of the students upon provision of the list of admission numbers. Following this sampling procedure 97 girls

in Lions, 76 girls in Xaverian and 62 girls in Kisumu Highway Secondary were randomly selected.

3.6 Data Collection Instruments and Procedures

3.6.1 Data Collection Instruments

A questionnaire was administered to each selected adolescent girl to elicit information on household characteristics, eating habits, factors affecting eating habits; weight related attitudes and behaviour assessment measured on a 4-point Likert scale; while self- Rosenberg 10-item was used to asses self-esteem scale (Survey Questionnaire: Annex 5) Etek City® High Precision Digital Weight Scales were used for weight measurement; and Seca 217 Stadiometer for Mobile Height Measurement.

3.6.2 Data Collection Procedures

Data was collected by 8 research assistants, 4 were undertaking their Master's Degree while the other 4 had an Undergraduate Degree from Maseno University. All the Research assistants underwent a 2-day training on anthropometric measurements, interview skills and reviewed the questionnaire.

3.6.2.1Anthropometric Measurements

Nutrition status was primarily determined using BMI for age, computed from height and weight. Height and weight measurements were taken by research assistants. Standing height was measured, read and recorded to the nearest 0.1cm as recommended by WHO. The adolescent girl was positioned onto the large base plate of the stadiometer standing straight without shoes, with the back of the head on the sturdy facing straight ahead, feet together, knees straight, and heels, buttocks, and shoulder blade in contact with the sturdy. The head

piece was lowered slowly until it touched the head, and readings were taken by the research assistant. Two measurement readings were taken per subject and averaged to get the accurate height. Where differences between the two measurements was greater than 0.2 cm a third measurement was taken; and the two closest readings averaged.

Seca 217 Stadiometer for Mobile Height Measurement was used because it is one of the most reliable and accurate height measurement equipment (Seca Limited 2011) this is because all the connections are very stable and the space between wall and rod prevent the rod from wobbling and trembling, movements which impair measurement accuracy. While the spacer provided extra stability and ensures precise measurement results. Since the research assistants needed to move from school to school it was convenient to carry the Stadiometer as the measuring rod could be taken apart in just a few steps and conveniently carried anywhere with the integrated handle.

Weight was taken using Etek City® High Precision Digital Weight Scales and recorded to the nearest 0.1kg. The scale was placed on a flat hard surface and standardized. The adolescent girl then stepped onto the standardized scale without shoes and sweater and looked straight ahead as the research assistant took two readings that were recorded and later averaged to give the most accurate weight. The scale was standardized every morning with a standard weight of 5kg before each weight measurement. Since there was need for very accurate and reliable measurement the Etek City® High Precision Digital Weight Scale was chosen because of its high-precision sensors that ensure most accurate weight readings. Two measurements were taken and the two acceptable measurements were recorded and the average reported.

3.6.2.2Administration of the Questionnaire

Information on eating habits: snacking, binge-eating, skipped meals, fruit and vegetable consumption in the past two weeks; and frequency of eating habits practised in the past 14 days, was collected from the selected girls using the survey questionnaire. Information on when the eating habits was practiced, the most common food, its source, reasons for practising the identified eating habits and where it was done, was also collected. Information on cultural factors was also collected through the questionnaire.

3.6.2.3 Weight-Related Attitudes

Data on attitudes related to weight and dieting were collected using questions designed. Data on perception of weight status was collected by asking participants how they would describe themselves. Importance of body weight was also assessed on a 4-pointLikert scale ranging from "very important" to "not at all important. Here the participants described how important their body weight was.

3.6.2.4 Self Esteem

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem was used as a self-appraisal scale. Self-esteem can be described as a favourable or unfavourable attitude towards oneself. Low self-esteem is a lack of respect for oneself, with feelings of unworthiness, inadequacies and deficiencies (Rosenberg M., 1965). The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale is a 10-item scale. On a 4-point Likert scale, respondents indicated the level of their agreement with statements ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree (Rosenberg M, 1956) with statements on how they felt about themselves (see appendix 5).

3.6.2.5Household Characteristics

Questions on socio-demographic characteristics were adapted from the Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2004), (CBS, 2004). The following variables were assessed by asking adolescent girls about; the total number of household members, number of adolescents and number of adolescent girls was collected. Further data on household characteristics such parental education and occupation were also collected.

3.7 Validity and Reliability of Instruments

Questionnaires were pre-tested on 15% of the sample size who qualified to be included, the questionnaire was pretested at Jalaram Secondary school. To avoid prior discussion of the questions, the piloted school was not part of the final data collection sample and thus was not be included in the final data collection.

Data was collected by 8 research assistants, 4 were undertaking their Master's Degree in Community nutrition while 4 had completed their undergraduate degree from Maseno University. All the 8 research assistants underwent a two-day training on anthropometric measurement, interview skill as well as went through the questionnaire to determine its suitability and ensure that each question was clearly understood.

For further quality assurance, height measurements were taken from flat surfaces with a supportive straight wall in place. While for weight measurements the weighing scale was calibrated using a known weight every morning and after every 20 girls and also placed on a hard flat surface during assessment. The research assistant took three heights and weight measurement of each girl and recorded the measurements to the nearest 0.1cm or 0.1kgs for height and weight respectively.

3.8 Measurement of Variables

3.8.1 Nutritional Status

Weight and standing Height were used to compute BMI for age using WHO (2007) recommended formula of

 $BMI = (\underline{Height in Metres})^2$ Weigh in Kg

A formula recommended by WHO, (2007). BMI provides a good indicator for levels of body fat, and it is known that having a BMI that is either too low or too high is associated with an increased risk of ill health during childhood as well as later in life Dinsdale, (2011). BMI is also recommended because it is relatively quick and easy to calculate and as a result, is used for population surveys and by health professionals when assessing individual patients. BMI is therefore the most frequently used measure for assessing whether adults or children are obese, overweight, underweight, or a healthy weight.

CDC (2011) also reported that BMI is the commonly accepted index for classifying adiposity in adults and it is recommended for use in children and adolescents and like weight-forstature, BMI is a screening tool used to identify individuals who are underweight or overweight. CDC further illustrates that because adiposity varies with age and gender during childhood and adolescence, BMI is age and gender specific and therefore qualifies the use of BMI as an appropriate measure of nutrition status. BMI is also universally accepted because it is a proxy measure of body fat, has clear cut off points that guide interpretation of individual nutrition status and also can be used as to track body size throughout life cycle making it very relevant to our study subjects.

BMI was classified as interpreted using Body Mass Index-for-age percentiles recommended by WHO (2007) 5 to 19 years Z scores. The nutrition status was classified as follows

i. Over weight >+1SD (equivalent to BMI 25kg/m²)

- ii. Obesity > +2SD (equivalent to $BMI 30 kg/m^2$)
- iii. Underweight < -2 SD (BMI < 18.5kg/m²)
- iv. Normal (equivalent to BMI 18.5- 24.9 kg/m^2)

3.8.2 Eating Habits

Snacking is a categorical variable that was measured based on the number and frequency of taking meals in between the three standards meals. Binge eating, a categorical variable (binge eating yes/no) that was measured by the frequency with which an individual has episodes of uncontrolled eating resulting in excess consumption of food in a sitting. A person was considered to be a binge eater if at least one episode of bingeing was reported. A participant was considered to have skipped a meal if she consumed less than 67% (less than 3meals) of the normal daily meals. An adolescent who had less than 2 servings of fruits or vegetables per day was considered to have a low vegetable and fruit intake.

3.8.3. Socio-Cultural Factors

Socio-cultural factors included psychosocial factors, cultural factors, and household characteristics. Psycho social factors included weight related attitudes and self-esteem.

3.8.3.1 Weight related attitudes

Weight related attitudes were measured on a Likert scale with responses ranging from 1 (very important) to 5 (not at all important). Adolescent girls who scored the lowed were rated as viewing their weight as very important were classified as vulnerable to nutrition problems while those who feel their weight as not very important were classified as not vulnerable to nutrition problems as illustrated in appendix 5

3.8.3.2 Self Esteem

Self-esteem was assessed using a Rosenberg 10-item self-esteem tool based on a 4-point Likert scale. Items are answered on a four-point scale - from strongly agree to strongly disagree on 10 statements. Each statement is scored as Strongly Agree =3, Agree =2, Disagree=1, Strongly Disagree=0, statements with an asterisk are reverse scored, that is, Strongly Agree =0, Agree=1, Disagree=2, Strongly Disagree=3. The scores for the 10 items are summed and range from 0 to 30. The higher the score, the higher the self-esteem. A score of 15 or less shows low self-esteem while a score above 15 shows high self-esteem.

3.8.3.3 Household characteristics

Household characteristics assessed included, household economic status based on the mothers, fathers and older sister's main occupation and level of education attained based on the , maternal and paternal level of education was also assessed. Number of people in the household, number of adolescents and number of adolescent girls was assessed.

3.8.3.4 Cultural factors

This included factors such as whom food was consumed with, where it was sourced

3.9 Statistical Data Analysis

Data was entered in SPSS version 20, before analysis the data was cleaned and in case of any missing information, the questionnaire was referred to and the data updated. BMI was determined by taking the average weight in kg and dividing with the average weight in metre squared. The BMI for age was then categorised into Obese (<30), overweight (25-29.9), normal weight (18.5-24.9) and underweight (< 18.5), nutrition status was then described using frequencies and percentages to show the prevalence of overweight, obesity, normal weight and underweight.

The prevalence of eating habits and eating disorders were described using frequencies and percentages. Social cultural factors: household characteristics, were described using frequencies and percentages, self-esteem was analysed as per Rosenberg model and then categorised, girls who scored less than 15 being categorised as having low self-esteem and coded as 0 while those who scored more than 15 were categorised as having high self-esteem and coded 1 this was then run using descriptive statistics to yield percentages. Weight related attitude that was defined as importance of body weight was described using percentages. Associations between eating habits and socio, cultural factors that demographic and cultural factors was determined by odds ratio generated using binary and multiple logistic regression while the relationship between eating habits and nutrition status was determined using linear regression with BMI as a dependent continuous variable while eating habits were independent variables.

3.10 Ethical Considerations

A letter of permission to proceed with the study was obtained from the School of Graduate Studies Board. Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the National Council for Science and Technology in the Ministry of Science and Technology where a research permit was granted (Appendix 1), with additional approval obtained from the Ministry of education in Kisumu Appendix 2).

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

Results of the research work are presented in this section. The areas covered include: socio demographic status indicators of the household, nutrition status, and dietary intake, eating habits, knowledge on nutrition, self-esteem, and associations between different eating habits and nutrition status.

4.1 Respondents Characteristics

Of the 235 adolescent girls interviewed, only 226 provided all the information required in the questionnaires, the 9 girls were not willing to have their weight and height taken and did not provide most of responses to the questionnaire, hence a 3.8% non-response rate. Since their data was not adequate it was exempted from analysis. Most of the girls (56.2%) who responded were aged between 16 to 17 years, only 7.1% and 5.8% were aged 14 and 19 years respectively. The mean age of the adolescents was 16.34 ± 1.3 .

4.2 Nutrition Status of School Going Adolescent Girls in Kisumu City

BMI for age was used to assess the nutrition status of adolescent girls, based on WHO recommendations. Most of the girls (61.5%; n=139) whose weight and height were taken, had a normal BMI of 18.5 to 24.9, 29.2% were overweight, only 4.4 % were underweight and 4.9% were classified as obese. Summary results on BMI for age among adolescent girls are illustrated in figure 4.1below



Figure 4.1: Overall distribution of nutrition indicator BMI

The prevalence of overweight and obese girls was significant. Assessment of BMI for age distribution per class showed that most overweight girls, (41.5%) were in form 2 while form 4 had 10.8% of obese girls. However, 78.0% and 75.7% of the girls in Form 3 and 4 had normal weight. Table 4.1 below summarizes distribution of BMI per class.

	Underweight	Normal weight	Overweight	Obese
Class	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Form 1	4.1	58.9	35.6	1.4
Form 2	6.2	44.6	41.5	7.7
Form 3	6.0	78.0	14.0	2.0
Form 4	0	75.7	13.5	10.8
Total				

Table 4.1: BMI classification by class

*Data is indicated as % of adolescents in each category

Prevalence of overweight was higher in the lower classes (form 1 and form 2), although most of the obese girls were in form 4. There was however no distinct pattern observed in the distribution of obesity across classes. The largest proportion of girls in all the classes had a normal BMI with form 3 and 4 having the highest percentage of girls with normal weight. No distinct pattern was observed in the distribution of underweight across the classes.

4.3 Eating Habits Practiced by School Going Adolescent Girls

Four eating habits identified through literature review were assessed among school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. These included skipping meals, snacking, binge eating, vegetable and fruit consumption

4.3.1 Skipping Meals

In this study meal skipping was described as taking less than 67% of the daily three meals (breakfast, Lunch and Dinner), ideally missing one of the three major meals. About 82.7% had skipped one or more meals in 7 days preceding the interview day. Most girls, 59.3% reported missing breakfast, 40.7% and 26.5% had missed lunch and supper respectively. Breakfast was the most missed meal of the day.

4.3.1.1 Reasons for Skipping Breakfast

Most girls (62.8%) reported missing breakfast were late for school, 54.4% because they did not have time to prepare breakfast, 20.4% because they woke up late for school, 10.3% had to walk long distances to get to school and therefore decided to go to school without breakfast. Most girls had tea with "mandazi", bread or "chapatti" for breakfast. About 9.3% did not either like taking breakfast or feel like taking it. Other reasons given included being satisfied, having woken up late, lack of appetite, not feeling well, fasting and not being used to having breakfast. An interesting 0.8% skipped breakfast because it was not available. About 18.7% of 226 girls had missed breakfast 14 times, indicating that they had missed breakfast every morning, 16.7% had missed twice, 13.3% once, 11.7% three times, 10.8% five times and 10.0 four times. About 19.2% had missed breakfast between 6 to 7 times.

4.3.1.2 Reasons for Skipping Lunch

All the schools from which the respondents were sampled prepared lunch. However, in addition to tuition fees parents were expected to pay for the meals. Therefore, only girls whose parents had paid for school meals were allowed to get food from the school cafeteria. All the schools prepared a mixture of maize and beans and had rice and beans once a week on Wednesdays. About 40.7% (n=92) of the girls had missed lunch at least once within two weeks preceding the interview dates.

Of those who skipped lunch, 57.4% did not feel like taking the food prepared in school; and 23.8% did not take lunch because they were dieting or watching their weight. Other reasons given comprising of 18.8% of all reasons reported, included: food not appetizing, not well cooked, revising for exams, fasting for religious reasons, working on assignments, not feeling well and lack of money to either pay for lunch in school or buy from the nearby *kiosks*. About 30.1% of the girls had missed lunch twice in 14 days, 22.9% had missed most the once, 14.5% had missed thrice and 32.5% had missed between 4 to 14 times. A significant number of girls missed lunch often.

4.3.1.3 Reason for Skipping Dinner

Students left school between 5 and 7 pm. All the respondents were expected to have dinner at home. Of the 226 girls interviewed 60.8% indicated that dinner was served between 8pm and 9pm while the rest had dinner much later in the evening between 10-11 pm. Reasons given for skipping dinner included: not liking what had been prepared, had taken tea when they arrived home from school, supper was served late and they were too tired to take it, lack of appetite, working on homework, slept before dinner was ready. Less than 1% indicated that there was no dinner prepared in their house because there was no food. Lack of food still contributed to skipping dinner.

About 30.0% of 60 girls who had missed dinner skipped it once, 18.0% twice and 14.0% three times, 38.0% had skipped 4 to 14 times.

4.3.2 Snacking

Snacking was described as taking food in between three major meals (breakfast, lunch and dinner), the snacks were classified as either healthy or unhealthy, and 73.0% of the respondents reported snacking in the last 2 weeks. Most snacks 95.4% consumed were unhealthy foods which included chips (36.4%), biscuits (10.3%), 'mandazi' and chapatti' (10.7%), crisps (5.7%). Other snacks included: ice cream, sweets, 'bajia' popcorns, kebabs and sausages. Most of the girls, 98% purchased the snacks from the school canteen and kiosks and hawkers around the school while only 2% carried snacks from home. Most girls snacked on unhealthy snacks.

Most of these foods (chips, *mandazi, bhajia and chapattis*) are sold as street foods in Kisumu making them easily accessible and affordable to adolescent girls. Only 4.6% of the snacks could be considered healthy; these were mangoes, roasted maize, porridge and bananas. Although snacks were reportedly consumed throughout the day, they were mostly taken between 10-11am (15.6%) during the morning break and 6-7pm (26.3%), after school. Figure 4.2 below summarises sources of snacks



Figure 4.2: Sources of Snack

4.3.2.1 Reasons for Snacking

Most girls 26.5% (n=60), snacked because they were hungry 22.6 %(n=51) liked the snacks, 17.7% (n=34) were either given snacks or it was bought for them by friend, 15.0% had the snacks because it was cheap and 8.8% had either skipped breakfast or lunch. Figure 4.3 summarizes reasons for snacking



Figure 4.3 Reasons for Snacking

Based on this results most girls snacked because they were either hungry or liked the food.

4.3.3 Binge Eating

Binge eating was described as consumption of larger than normal amounts of food in one sitting as perceived by an adolescent girl. About 82% (n=92) had binge eaten, only 80.4% (n=90) of food binged on was healthy, this included: 27.2% rice with legumes or meat, roasted maize, ' *ugali*' with fish or meat, bread, spaghetti. About 19.6% (n=22) of the food binged was classified as unhealthy (junk food defined as chips, crisps, ice cream, *mandazi*, *pizza, samosas*, pizza and sausages), 70% being chips and 30% comprising of crisps, ice-cream, *mandazi*, pizza , *samosa* and sausages. About 60.2% binged between 8.00pm and 9.00pm, which is mainly supper time. Bingeing episodes happened mainly when the girls were having meals with their families. Most of girls binged on healthy foods. Table 4.2 shows with whom the respondents were having food with when they binged.

Whom food was		
consumed with	n	%
Sister/ Brother	15	6.5
Family	121	53.3
Friends	34	15
Alone	44	19.6
Classmates	12	5.6
Total	226	100

 Table 4.2: Who the respondents binged with

In this study however the 68% of girls reported bingeing because they had skipped lunch,

were hungry, it was their favourite food, and availability of too much food.

4.3.4 Vegetable Consumption

Vegetable consumption over the last two weeks was assessed. Information on sources, number of times they were consumed in the two weeks and per day were obtained. More than a half, 68.6% (n=155) had consumed vegetables within the past 7 days. Although most girls had consumed vegetables, only 32.3%) had consumed vegetables at least 2 times every single day. Although a total of 155 had consumed vegetables 65.8%) had not had enough vegetables

while 31.2% \) had not had vegetables in two weeks. Vegetables were mainly taken at dinner time with 47.1% (n=73) taking vegetables at 8.00pm. The same number indicated that they had consumed vegetables at home with family members. Figure 4 4 illustrates type of vegetables consumed. Vegetable consumption was generally low.



Figure 4.4: Type of vegetables consumed

Kales were the most consumed vegetables while carrots were least consumed.

4.3.5. Fruits Consumption

Only 41.2% had consumed fruits, 43% of the girls who had consumed fruits had at least two servings each day, the remaining 57% could not be considered as having adequate consumption of fruits while 58.8% did not have fruits at all in the last two weeks. About 50% of the girls who consumed fruits had taken them at home, mainly with family members. Figure 4.5 shows fruits consumed.



Figure 4.5: Fruits consumed by adolescent girls

Mangoes were the most consumed fruits while plums, passion and grapes were least

consumed fruits.

4.4 Factors Influencing Eating Habits

The third objective sought to identify factors that influence eating habits. Factors assessed include: sources of food, nutrition education, body image and self-esteem, exercise, nutrition education, dieting and eating disorders.

4.4. 1 Household Characteristics

The mean household number was 6.58 ± 2.38 ; number of adolescents aged years14-19 was 2.45 ± 1.45 per household. About 70.3% of the adolescents indicated that they were 1-3 adolescents in their family, 41.6% had one adolescent girl and 27.4% had two adolescent girls. Household and participant characteristics are summarised in Table 4.3 below.

Participant age (Years)	Age		%
	14		7.1
	15		19.0
	16		30.1
	17		26.1
	18		11.9
	19		5.8
Parental education	Level of education	Mother	Father
	No formal education	13.0	4.9
	Primary Education	20.7	10.6
	Secondary education	22.6	23.4
	Tertiary education	35.7	46.4
	Not Applicable	8.0	14.7
Parental occupation	Occupation	Mother	Father
	Formal employment	12.7	36.7
	Businessman/woman	51.3	15.7
	Informal employment	17.4	18.4
	Housewife	20.6	-
	Unemployed	8.2	2.2
	Don't know what the parents do	0	12.3
	No parent	1.2	14.7

 Table 4.3: Respondents and households characteristics

Table 4.3 above shows that majority of the participants' mothers (35.7%) and fathers (46.4%) had attained tertiary education. More than half (51.8%) of the elder sisters to adolescent girls had attained at least secondary and tertiary education. Parental occupation assessment showed that more than half of the mothers (51.3%) were engaged in business, most of the fathers 36.7% were employed. About 14.7 % of the respondents did not have fathers, 12.3% and 1.7% could not define or describe what their fathers and mothers did for a living respectively

4.4.2 Importance of Body Weight

Body was important to adolescent: 88.1% of the girls considered their bodyweight as either very important to them 70.8% Or important (17.3%); while only 3.5% indicated that it was not at all important. Figure 4. 6summarises the percentage distribution of importance of body weight.



Figure 4.6: Importance of weight

4.4.3 Self Esteem

Self-esteem was assessed using a 10-item Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale which classifies self-esteem as high or low. About 79.2% (n=179) of the adolescent girls were classified as having low self-esteem as they had a score of less than15 on the Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale (appendix 5 section 7.1) and only 20.8% had a score of over 15, hence were classified as having a high self-esteem.

4.4.4 Eating Disorders

Questions adopted from the Eating Attitude Test-26 were used to assess the possibility of adolescent girls engaging in activities that could point to a risk of developing or having eating disorders. Table 4.4 below summarizes eating disorder assessment responses.

Measures of eating disorders	Yes (%)	No (%)
Have you made yourself vomit after eating food	15.2	82.2
Have you ever eaten more than enough food in one		
sitting	51.6	48.4
Have you ever used laxatives or Diuretics	2.6	96.7
Have you ever been treated for an eating disorder*	6.5	90.8
Have you ever attempted suicide (as a result of not		
liking your body or feeling depressed with how you		
look)	11	89
*Esting disorders in this study man defined as anot		airraler arraiding

*Eating disorders in this study were defined as anorexia, compulsively avoiding food and bulimia where food was consumed and forcefully purged out

4.5Association between Eating Habits and Social Cultural and Psychosocial Factors

To assess the association between eating habits and the above identified factors, bivariate logistic regression was used to identify factors that influence eating habits. Multivariate binary logistic regression was then conducted to determine factors that independently influenced eating habits.

4.5.1 Binge Eating

Bivariate logistic regression analysis of binge eating with psychosocial and socio cultural factors identified as having potential to influence eating habits show that maternal education, age of the adolescent girls and skipping meals increased the chance of binge eating while snacking and class reduced chances of binge eating. Table 4.5 below shows results of analyses on association between binge eating and social cultural factors that influence eating habits.

Variable		Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p v</i> alue
Mother's Education	No education *	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Primary Education	4.09	1.23, 26.96	0.04*
	Secondary education	5.76	1.89,26.96	0.03*
	Tertiary Education	6.05	1.23,28.31	0.02*
Class of the adolescent girl	Form 1*	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Form 2	1.14	1.06, 1.34	0.02*
	Form 3	1.41	1.18,1.94	0.04*
	Form 4	1.81	1.34,2.96	0.01*
Age		1.30	1.05,1.61	0.02*
Skipping breakfast		1.76	1.02, 3.05	0.04*
Skipping lunch		2.04	1.19,3.50	0.01*
Snacking		0.18	0.08, 0.37	0.00*
Vegetable consumption		2.71	0.87, 4.81	0.65
Fruit consumption		0.38	0.15, 1.56	0.08
Self esteem		2.44	0.91, 4.67	0.15
Importance of body weight		0.35	0.01, 1.86	0.12
Eating disorders		0.56	0.28, 5.82	0.09

Table 4.5: Factors influencing binge eating

*Comparison group for categorical variables with more than 2 categories. All other variables are yes/no variables with the "no" group as the comparison group, hence not indicated. $p_{<}0.05$

The odds of binge eating increased with the level of maternal education, with adolescents whose mothers had tertiary education being 6.05 times more likely to binge eat compared to those whose mothers had no education. Girls whose mothers had secondary education were 5.76 times more likely to binge respectively in comparison to those whose mothers only had no education. Self-esteem, eating disorders and importance of body weight did not influence binge eating in bivariate logistic regression

The odds of binge eating also increased with age with older girls 1.3 times more likely to binge eat. Girls who had skipped breakfast were 1.8 times likely to binge eat, than those who had breakfast. Those who skipped lunch were 2.0 times likely to binge, and overall those who had reported skipping any meal at all were 2.7 times more likely to binge than those who did

not skip meals. Girls who snacked were 82.4% less likely to binge than those who did not snack.

Multiple regression analysis were carried out to identify factors that independently influenced binge eating. All the factors that had a significant influence on binge eating with p-value of less than 0.05 in the bivariate analyses were included in the multiple regression analysis. Table 4.6 below shows that only class, skipping meals and snacking independently influenced binge eating:

Table4.0: Factors that independently influence binge cating					
Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI	p value		
Maternal education					
No education	Ref	Ref	Ref		
Primary education	0.63	0.14,3.30	0.24		
Secondary education	0.40	0.12, 4.36	0.70		
Tertiary education	0.92	0.52, 2.98	0.11		
Class					
Form 1	Ref	Ref	Ref		
Form 2	1.05	1.08, 3.11,	0.01*		
Form 3	1.24	2.61, 4.54	0.02*		
Form 4	2.31	1.71, 5.29	0.01*		
Age	3.81	1.57, 7.15	0.03*		
Skipping breakfast	0.55	0.25, 1.19	0.13		
Skipping lunch	1.48	1.07, 2.99	0.04*		
Snacking	0.24	0.04, 0.79	0.02*		

 Table4.6: Factors that independently influence binge eating

Results generated from multivariate logistic regression analysis; Ref: Reference group indicating the comparison group for categorical variables with more than two categories; p value less than 0.05

After eliminating the effects of other factors, maternal education and skipping breakfast did not have an influence on binge eating however, class, skipping lunch and snacking showed significant influence on binge eating. Girls in Form 4 were 2.3 times likely to binge eat than those in Form 1, odds of binge eating increased with age with older girls being 3.8 times more likely to binge than younger girls. However the odds of bingeing was76.4% lower in girls who snacked than in those who did not snack.

4.5.2 Factors that Influence Snacking

Bivariate regression analysis showed that girls who binge ate; consumed vegetables and fruits were less likely to snack reduced negatively associated with snacking. Table 4.6 below shows factors that influence snacking.

Variable		Odds	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
		Ratio		-
Mother's Education	No education *	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Primary Education	2.09	0.23, 7.91	0.07
	Secondary education	1.61	0.89, 4.23	0.12
	Tertiary Education	0.65	0.23, 3.14	0.32
Class of the adolescent girl	Form 1*	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Form 2	2.54	0.06, 5.33	0.32
	Form 3	3.41	0.18, 5.01	0.11
	Form 4	3.82	0.34, 7.96	0.08
Age		1.30	0.05, 2.81	0.21
Skipping lunch		0.24	0.19, 3.50	0.41
Skipping breakfast		2.47	1.39, 3.14	0.02*
Binge eating		0.18	0.08, 0.37	0.01*
Vegetable consumption		0.42	0.23, 0.77	0.03*
Fruits consumption		0.25	0.16, 0.51	0.03*
Self esteem		1.21	0.45, 6.45	0.70
Importance of body weight		0.23	0.09, 2.31	0.12
Eating disorders		0.34	0.08, 3.26	0.17

Comparison group for categorical variables with more than 2 categories. All other variables are yes/no variables with the "no" group as the comparison group, hence not indicated. $p_{<}0.05$

Table 4.6 above shows that girls who skipped breakfast were 2.47 times more likely to snack while those who binge eat were 82. % less likely to snack, those who consumed vegetables and fruits were 58 % and 75% less likely to snack respectively. Psychosocial factors such as importance of body weight, and self-esteem did not have any significant influence on snacking.

In a multivariate regression analysis where effects of other factors were eliminated, only binge eating and fruit consumption, independently influenced snacking with the girls who binge ate having a 71% chance of not snacking while those who consumed fruits were 2.4 times more likely to snack. as illustrated in Table 4.7.

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI	p value
Skipping breakfast	1.94	0.83, 1.06	0.45
Bingeing	0.29	0.10, 0.81	0.02*
Vegetable consumption	0.94	0.40,2.20	0.89
Fruits consumption	2.40	1.18,5.87	0.02*

Table 4.7: Factors that independently influence snacking

Results generated from multivariate logistic regression analysis; Ref: Reference group indicating the comparison group for categorical variables with more than two categories; p value less than 0.05*p value less than 0.05

4.5.3 Factors Influencing Skipping of Meals

Table 4.8 below shows factors that influenced eating habits

Variable		Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Mother's Education	No education *	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Primary Education	1.02	0.13, 3.72	0.08
	Secondary education	1.83	0.24, 2.25	0.13
	Tertiary Education	3.22	0.63, 6.27	0.32
Class of the adolescent girl	Form 1*	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Form 2	1.48	1.12, 2.95	0.03*
	Form 3	1.89	1.34, 2.45	0.02*
	Form 4	2.50	1.25, 4.95	0.01*
Age		1.57	0.05, 1.85	0.03*
Binge eating		2.18	0.68, 4.37	0.08
Vegetable consumption		1.42	0.73, 3.77	0.13
Fruits consumption		3.25	0.89, 7.51	0.28
Binge eating		2.96	1.33, 6.58	0.00*
Self esteem		4.21	0.95, 6.25	0.20
Importance of body weight		0.23	0.09, 1.34	0.42
Eating disorders		0.34	0.08. 3. 26	0.08

Table4.8: Factors that influenced skipping of meals

Ref: Refers to the reference or comparison category where a variable has more than two categories; *p-value less than 0.05

Girls in higher classes were more likely to skip meals than those in lower classes. With Form 4 girls 2.5 times more likely to skip meals than those in Form 1; girls in Form 3 and Form 2 were 1.9 and 1.5 times more likely to skip meals respectively, than girls in Form 1. Girls who

binge ate were 3 times more likely to skip meals than those who did not binge eat. Girls who were older were 1.6 times likely to skip meals. Self-esteem, and importance of body weight did not influence skipping of meals.

In multiple regression none of the factors hada significant statistical association with skipping meals or with binge eating as illustrated in Table 4.9

Table 4.9: Factors that independently influenced skipping of means				
Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> value	
Class				
Form 1	Ref	Ref	Ref	
Form 2	1.48	0.02, 3.45	0.18	
Form 3	2.09	0.38, 4.15	0.22	
Form 4	3.01	0.25, 6.27	0.10	
Age	1.87	0.01, 2.32	0.34	
Binge eating	0.16	0.13, 2.58	0.62	

Table 4.9: Factors that independently influenced skipping of meals

Skipping meals was not independently influenced by any of the factors.

4.5.4Factors that Influenced Fruit Consumption

Age and binge eating were found to have a positive and negative influence respectively on chances of consuming fruits while skipping of meals, snacking and vegetable consumption were associated with increased chances of consuming fruits as illustrated in Table 4.10 below.

Variable		Odds	95% CI	p value
		Ratio		
Mother's Education	No education *	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Primary Education	0.09	0.03, 1.71	0.08
	Secondary education	1.61	0.19, 2.43	0.21
	Tertiary Education	2.01	0.93, 4.17	0.34
Class of the adolescent girl	Form 1*	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Form 2	2.48	1.22, 6.91	0.13
	Form 3	0.49	0.14, 2.65	0.72
	Form 4	4.51	0.85, 8.15	0.11
Age		1.39	1.12, 1.73	0.01*
Skipping lunch		2.33	1.35, 4.02	0.00*
Skipping breakfast		2.47	0.39, 3.14	0.12
Binge eating		0.18	0.08, 1.37	0.31
Vegetable consumption		8.15	3.78,17.55	0.03*
Fruits consumption		1.25	0.76, 3.61	0.09
Snacking		3.94	1.95,7.93	0.01*
Binge eating		0.32	0.15,1.58	0.01*
Self esteem		2.21	0.45, 6.45	0.10
Importance of body weight		0.93	0.19, 2.31	0.32
Eating disorders		1.14	0.18, 3.36	0.17

Table 4.10: Factors that influence fruit consumption (Bivariate regression)

*Data generated by bivariate analysis; *p-value less than 0.05

Girls who reported binging were 68% less likely to consume fruits. Girls who snacked, skipped lunch or consumed vegetables were 3.94, 2.33 and 8.15 times more likely to consume fruits. Chances of consuming fruits also increased with age. Psychosocial factors such as self-esteem and importance of body image did not have influence on fruit consumption

In a multivariate regression analysis only vegetable consumption, snacking a and age independently influenced fruit consumption, with girls who consumed vegetables being 6.8 times more likely to consume fruits as illustrated in the Table 4.11 below.

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Snacking	2.58	1.15, 5.76	0.02*
Age	1.29	1.00, 1.65	0.04*
Binge eating	1.56	0.66,3.66	0.308
Vegetable consumption	6.83	3.03, 15.39	0.01*
skipping lunch	1.80	0.95, 2.06	0.07

Table4.11: Factors that independently influenced fruit Consumption

*Data generated from multiple regression analysis; *p-value less than 0.05

5.5.5 Factors that influenced Vegetable Consumption

None of the factors significantly influenced vegetable consumption as shown in Table 4.11

below.

Variable		Odds	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
		Ratio		-
Mother's Education	No education *	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Primary Education	1.09	0.23, 7.91	0.07
	Secondary education	2.41	0.89, 4.23	0.22
	Tertiary Education	0.45	0.23, 3.14	0.12
Class of the adolescent girl	Form 1*	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
	Form 2	3.54	0.06, 5.33	0.32
	Form 3	3.41	0.18, 5.01	0.11
	Form 4	3.82	0.34, 7.96	0.08
Age		1.30	0.05, 2.81	0.21
Skipping lunch		0.14	0.19, 3.50	0.41
Skipping breakfast		2.47	0.34, 3.14	0.20
Binge eating		0.28	0.08, 4.37	0.17
Vegetable consumption		1.02	0.23, 3.77	0.13
Fruits consumption		1.25	0.16, 3.51	0.09
Self esteem		1.21	0.45, 6.45	0.70
Importance of body weight		0.23	0.09, 2.31	0.12
Eating disorders		0.34	0.08, 3.26	0.17

 Table 4.12: Factors influencing eating vegetable consumption

Vegetable consumption was not influenced by any of the factors in bivariate regression

4.6 Association between Eating Habits and Nutrition Status

Association between eating habits and nutrition status was assessed using multivariate linear regression analysis. Only vegetable consumption and skipping meals had a significant

association with BMI. The Table 4.12below shows bivariate regression results between eating habit and nutrition status:

Variable	Mean BMI Difference	95%CI	P value
Vegetable consumption	0.19	0.11, 2.52	0.005*
Fruits consumption	0.08	-0.43, 1.55	0.265
Binge	0.04	-0.69, 1.27	0.563
Snacking	0.01	-1.02, 1.18	0.887
Skipped meals	0.01	0.44, 1.23	0.039*

 Table4.13: The relationship between eating habits and nutrition Status

*Data generated by bivariate linear regression analysis; *p-value less than 0.05

The table shows that BMI was higher by 0.19 in girls who consumed vegetables as recommended compared to those who did not. Girls who skipped meals had a negligibly lower BMI $(0.01 \text{ kg/m}^2)^1$ than girls who did not skip meals.

Results of multiple regression analysis where the two variables, skipping meals and vegetable consumption were included, only vegetable consumption had a significant association with BMI. The Table 4.13below illustrates the multiple regression output.

Fable 4.14: The relationship	between eating hal	oits and nutrition status
-------------------------------------	--------------------	---------------------------

Variable	Mean BMI difference	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Vegetable consumption	0.189	0.06, 0.32.	0.01*
Skipping meals	0.023	-1.50,1.05	0.73
D (11 1)	1 1' ' 1	1 1	1 0.05

Data generated by multiple linear regression analysis; *p-value less than 0.05

The above results showed that consumption of vegetables is independently associated with a BMI higher by 0.19 (p = 0.01).

^{*}BMI units are usually not reported.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

5.1 General Characteristics of the Participants

This study sought to assess relationships between eating habits and nutrition status of schoolgoing adolescent girls in Kisumu City. The participants were girls aged between 14-19 years in three day schools in Kisumu City. The study had a good response rate with most of the respondents aged 16 and 17 years. Although the girls were randomly selected in each school, majority of the girls were in Form 1, could be because there was a higher number of students in junior classes and the number decreases towards the examination classes (Form 4) by about 10 to 15% per class according to school registers. Most of the girls were from households of sizes larger than the national average size of 6 reported by the Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, (2010) with most parents having attained tertiary education and mostly engaged in business and formal employment.

5.2 Nutrition Status of School Going Adolescent Girls in Kisumu City

On average, school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City had optimal weight within the WHO 5th to 85th percentile. Both under-nutrition and over-nutrition exists in adolescent school-going girls. The combined prevalence of overweight and obesity of 34.1% is higher than WHO, (2008) reported average of 27% in middle income countries and 14% among young women globally. The overweight prevalence in this study is therefore considered high because it is just short of double the global prevalence. This high prevalence is a source of concern, given that, as corroborated by Afework *et al.*, (2009), overweight adolescents are likely to be overweight adults with increased risk for lifestyle-related chronic disorders.
Although the prevalence of obesity reported in this study was lower than the 21% reported by CDC, (2012), it was higher than 4.2% reported in Ile-Ife, Osun (Sabageh & Ojofeitimi, 2013), 1.8% in Benue State (Musa *et al.*,2012) and 2.6% in Oyo state (Akinlade *et al.*,2014) all in Nigeria where most obese girls were in urban areas. The proportion of adolescent girls in Kisumu City who were overweight and obese was also higher than the 19.7% reported by (Lazzeri *et al.*, 2013) in a slum in India as well as the 11% total obese and overweight reported by Le'onie, *et al.*, (2010) in Cameroon among the urban middle class. This study therefore shows that the prevalence of overweight in Kisumu City is notably higher than what has been reported in other developing countries.

The prevalence of obesity in this study was also higher than weighted averages of overweight and obesity of 10.6% and 2.5% respectively (Muthuri *et al.*, (2014) in her systematic review of evidence of an overweight/obesity transition among school-aged children and youth in Sub-Saharan Africa. Both the Sub Saharan Africa review and the study in urban Cameroon however showed a difference in the nutritional status of adolescent girls in rural and urban areas; with body composition measures being higher among girls in urban areas compared to their rural counterparts. The high prevalence of overweight/obesity found in the current study are corroborated by findings by Muthuri *et al.*, (2014), who reported that prevalence of childhood overweight/obesity has increased considerably in recent years; even though consistent or representative data from lower income countries is scarce. It is also consistent with overall growing trend among the general Kenya urban population that has seen a surge in overweight adolescents and adults across the country (Kyalo *et al.*, 2013).

Although WHO does not have a cut off on acceptable prevalence of obesity among adolescents, the high number of girls who are overweight means that there is a possibility of

those who are overweight to become obese in future, increasing their risk of lifestyle diseases in adulthood. The study in Cameroon showed some difference in overweight among adolescents from different social economic groups with 8% from low income, 11% from middle income and 9% of girls from high income households were overweight (Dapi *et al.*, 2009). Most of the girls in Kisumu came from middle income areas just as the middle class group in Cameroon that registered the highest level overweight therefore provoking the need to further research to interrogate the Barker hypothesis and its impact on the nutrition status of adolescent girls from middle income groups across the country.

The prevalence of underweight is relatively lower among adolescent school-going girls in Kisumu, than has been reported by most African studies. It is much lower than the 15.6% reported by Leenstra *et al.*, (2005) in Western Kenya schools, 58.3% reported by Afework *et al.*,(2009) in Tigray, Ethiopia, 56.4% reported by (Wasnak *et al.*, 2012) among adolescent girls in the rural Vizianagaram District of India that focused on adolescent girls in a welfare programme. It however closely compares with the findings of a study on adolescent girls in an urban slum in India ((Lazzeri et *al.*, 2008) that reported 8.7%, as well as 5% reported among urban adolescent girls in Yaounde (Dapi *et al.*, 2009).

The low prevalence of underweight in Kisumu in comparison to other studies could be attributed to the environmental and socio-economic structure of Kisumu City, an urban area with a relatively vibrant economy in comparison to the Indian District and Tigray studies. For example the studies in India's welfare program and rural Tigray were carried out in rural areas with high poverty index and very food insecure communities. Much as the prevalence of underweight among adolescent girls in Kisumu Citywas relatively low, considering underweight could mean sub-optimal nutritional status that is likely to affect adolescent girls' health and productivity it cannot be ignored. Leenstra *et al.*, (2005) reported menarche and start of puberty were delayed by approximately 1.5-2 years in undernourished girls compared to a US reference population. This supports evidence of the role of optimal nutrition in development of adolescent girls. The prevalence of underweight in this study, albeit lower than reported by others, therefore calls for more attention to ensure that underweight girls attain optimal weight. It is also notable that the prevalence of underweight among adolescent girls is likely to be different in urban and rural settings, but was not addressed in the current study.

The underweight among school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City was much lower than what has been reported in Western Kenya by (Leenstra *et al.*, 2005) and Africa in general. However considering that optimal nutrition during adolescence in girls is likely to impact their productivity in future the presence of underweight in this group cannot be underscored.

5.3. Eating Habits

Snacking, skipping meals, binge eating, vegetable and fruit consumption were practised by the school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. This is in keeping with the observation that adolescents tend to skip meals, binge and snack on non-healthy foods (Alexy, *et al.*, 2002; Hoglund *et al.*, 1998). This agrees with Moreno *et al.*, (2007) whose findings stipulate that the period of adolescence is very crucial, involving a variety of physiological and psychological changes that usually affect dietary needs and eating habits.

Most girls had skipped one or more meals within the two weeks of the study. Breakfast was the most skipped meal with over a half of the girls missing it in the two week period while dinner was least skipped. These study findings corroborate study results in Nigerian urban schools by Onyiriuka *et al.*, (2013)where 48.1% of the assessed school going adolescent girls admitted to skipping at least one meal a fortnight with breakfast being the most frequently skipped (46.3%) and dinner the least frequently skipped (21.5%). On skipping breakfast, this study echoes the findings reported by Gross *et al.*, (2004), Chin *et al.*, (2009) and Thompson-McCormick *et al.*, (2010) in Pakistan, China and Mexico respectively who also indicated that breakfast was the most skipped meal of the day among adolescents and young females. Onyiriuka *et al.*, (2013) and El-Gilany, *et al.*, (2012) also reported that breakfast was the most skipped meal by school girls in Nigeria and Egypt. In Egypt Breakfast was consumed by 71.6% of students on daily basis, while daily intake of lunch and dinner were reported by 92.6% and 94.6% of students. Although the number of girls who took breakfast was much higher in Egypt than observed in the current study, breakfast remained the most skipped meal of the day while dinner was the least skipped meal in both studies.

Although breakfast is the most important meal of the day, most girls found it very challenging to consistently take it, citing lack of enough time as the main reasons for skipping breakfast, the same reasons cited by Soyer, (2008) in Turkey. This finding therefore reflects similar patterns among adolescents across two different geographical regions with breakfast being the most skipped meal of the day; and is contrary to the findings in Western settings that reflect a deliberate attempt to skip meals in order to maintain a perceived body image. However there is a need to further establish whether these trends occur widely in other African contexts. This will enable us further establish whether factors associated with skipping meals seen in Western contexts are also present in Africa.

Contrary to the belief that lack of food is the main cause of reduced meal frequency in developing countries (FAO, 2010), only 0.9% of the girls reportedly skipped breakfast because there was nothing to prepare in the morning. According to the education officer and head teachers in Kisumu City, girls were expected to be in school by 6.30am, as per the school regulations, most of them therefore woke up at 5.00am to prepare for school. This meant that since girls at this age culturally are expected to prepare their own and sometimes family breakfast, most of them found it difficult to prepare breakfast and even when they did they hardly had enough time to take it therefore leading to the high number skipping breakfast in comparison to lunch that was prepared by schools or bought within the school vicinity and dinner that was mostly prepared by caregivers or the rest of the family members. In this context therefore skipping breakfast, rather than being a conscious decision as is seen in Western contexts among girls trying to maintain a given body image, or as a result of food inadequacy may be rather as a result of lack of time.

The study showed that most girls had snacked within the past two weeks, mostly on unhealthy fast foods. This was also reported by Sibi, (2013) in a study in India that stipulated that adolescents frequently snacked and their snack selection was based on taste over nutrition. These findings also relate to the United States national survey data that reported 88% of adolescents consume at least one snack per day, with a range of 1 to 7 and snacks accounting for 25-33% of daily energy intakes among adolescents (Stang and Story, 2005). Chaplin and Smith (2011) also reported an 80.0% snacking with an average of 3 meals and 1.5 snacks per day resulting in 4.5 eating episodes among adolescent girls. The high rate of snacking on unhealthy food could be attributed to the availability and affordability of junk food sold around the school compound, it was observed, in the current study, that there were about 8-12 *kiosks* around the school that sold "*mandazis*" chips and biscuits. Although at

most 2 *Kiosks* sold fruits mostly oranges, mangoes, bananas and apples, these fruits were much more expensive than biscuits, chips and fizzy drinks.

Fruits were not frequently available, although most of the girls who ate fruits ate them as snacks rather than as part of the three main meals. Accessibility to street foods mostly chips, hawked biscuits and cheap fizzy drinks in the kiosks around schools and within the streets of Kisumu City could explain high level of snacking on unhealthy foods. This maybe a reflection of the findings by Wyshak, (2012) who illustrated that food choices made by adolescents while snacking are based on convenience, availability and cost of the snacks rather than the nutritional value. The snack choices in this study also agree with Stang and Story (2005) who showed that soft drinks are the most commonly chosen snacks for adolescent females and accounted for about 6% of total caloric intake. A study in Cameroon on eating habits by Le'onie *et al.*, (2010) also reported that food from vendors is cheap and consists mostly of junk food. This study's findings therefore corroborates that adolescents in the urban area were therefore accustomed to buying junk food from vendors during break times, at lunch and in-between meals.

Most of the snacks in this study were however taken around break time at about 10.00-10.30am and the most common reason for snacking was hunger. Considering that a significant number of girls had missed breakfast, snacking could therefore have been a compensatory mechanism to make up for missed breakfast while the choice to snack on junk food could be based on convenience as well as affordability. This also showed that despite the fact that most parents paid for lunch as part of school fees, girls were still given pocket money to buy snacks. It will therefore be good to know who provided pocket money for snacks despite paying for lunch meals, and why; to better understand factors that may contribute to consumption of energy-dense snacks in this group.

Less than half of the girls reported binge eating at least 4 times within the past 14 days, mostly on healthy foods, and in the evenings. In a study in Turkey, Nuray, (2008) reported an overall prevalence of 23.5% binge eating among adolescents in Turkey in comparison to 42.9% reported in this study. Binge eating is an important aspect of eating habits particularly among adolescents since Roslyn (2012) reported that binge eating was more common in adolescence and showed a significant association with onset of eating disorders mostly bulimia nervosa among adolescent girls. Although there was no significant association between binge eating and BMI in this study, another study by Tanofsky-Kraff, *et al.*, (2012) reported that adolescents who reported binge eating had higher triglycerides and BMI in comparison to those who did not.

There is general lack of information on binge eating among adolescent girls in Africa. However, studies in developed countries have shown an increased trend of binge eating among adolescent females which increased with age. Tanofsky- Kraff, *et al.*, (2012), Roslyn (2012), and Johnson (2010) reported that 17% African American girls and 18% white girls' binged and depressive symptoms and consumption of high-fat foods predicted their binge status. In Kisumu City, this study showed, however, that binge eating was mostly done in the evenings at dinner and the girls had indicated that they ate large quantities of food in the evening because they were hungry and also had enough time to take food in comparison to breakfast and lunchtime. These findings suggest that the girls were compensating for missed and inadequate meals during the day, rather than taking a conscious decision to binge-eat. This seemed to be the only meal that the girls had adequate time to take as the food was

prepared mostly by caregivers and they had enough time with other family members to enjoy the meal in comparison to breakfast and lunch where they only had 15 and 45 minutes to take the meals.

High consumption of fruits and vegetables is associated with reduced risk of chronic diseases such as heart disease, diabetes, and cancer, as well as increased health-related quality of life (Rieth *et al.*, 2012). In this study only 32.3% of the participants had consumed at least two servings of vegetables per day. This low intake is the same as another study which showed that adolescents from Southern Brazil had lower frequency of consumption of five servings a day of fruits and vegetables combined (Rieth *et al.*, 2012). Most of the girls who consumed fruits and vegetables had consumed them at home. The low consumption of vegetables and fruit observed among the Kisumu school-going adolescents could be explained by the fact that schools rarely had vegetables and fruits as part of their lunch menu, and fruits were mostly expensive and rarely available in the kiosks that sold food and snacks around the school compound. Since this study was mostly restricted to girls who had lunch at school and had access to other snacks rather than fruits it will be interesting to assess the rate of fruit consumption in a rural population where girls rarely had access to junk food and had all these three meals at home.

This study showed that all eating habits identified mainly in Western contexts were practised by school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City, but the motivation for these habits were occasioned more by prevailing circumstances than by a conscious decision to modify food intake. However since the study focused on urban school girls, we cannot conclusively say that they are practised by all adolescent girls across the country especially those in rural areas as well as out of school until a further research is conducted to effectively assess eating habits among adolescent girls in rural areas, out of school and those in boarding schools.

5.4 Factors That Influence Eating Habits

Bargiota *et al.*, (2013) reported that food choice in general is a complex process that depends on culture and can be influenced by personal, social, economic and emotional factors. Teenagers make many more choices for themselves than they did as children. Moreover, since eating is a social act, social networks and family can affect their food choices even more (Contento, *et al.*, (2006). This has further been affected by globalization that has eroded traditional foods, offering more food choice and availability, all of which have further influenced eating patterns. In this study, factors affecting eating habits were assessed based on Delisle *et al.*, (2009) framework.

Class, age, skipping meals and snacking had association with binge eating. The likelihood of binge eating increased with class, with those in Form 4 most likely to binge eat in comparison to those in lower classes. Older girls were also more likely to binge eat than younger girls. This corroborates Duckworth & Freedman (2013) article which reported that binge eating in women increased with age, peaking between 17-24 years. Since binge eating was mostly practiced in the evening as a compensatory mechanism for missed or inadequate meals during the day it would possibly explain why older girls who are likely to be in higher classes that required girls to be much earlier in school and had much shorter time for lunch were likely to consume more food in the evenings in comparison to younger girls in lower classes.

Girls who skipped meals were more likely to binge eat. Those who skipped breakfast and lunch were more likely to binge eat than those who did not skip meals. However, girls who snacked during the day were less likely to binge eat. This suggests that the girls who snacked during the day were less likely to binge later in the day mostly because since they are likely to have catered for either missed meals or make up for inadequate meals taken in the course of the day. These findings are quite different from most research that show that most binges were done during snack times rather than the general three meals of the day. Masheb *et al.*, (2013) reported that adolescent girls in USA binged on snacks. However, for Kisumu City school-going adolescents, those who snacked were less likely to binge eat. Although there are limited studies carried out on binge eating among adolescents in African countries, studies from the west such as a longitudinal study by Neumark–Sztainer *et al.*, (2008) in the USA reported an association between skipping meals and binge eating among adolescent, with girls who skipped meals being more likely to binge eat. Gluck, (2006) associated binge eating with emotional eating and loss of control that is later associated with guilt. However, in this Kisumu study, although girls ate rapidly and had more food than normal quantities of meals in one sitting, this did not fit a typical description of binge eating as an eating disorder as girls seemed to be compensating for either missed food or inadequate food taken during the day.

Binge eating also took place mostly during dinnertime and when having meals with family; most of the girls who binged were likely to have missed meals during the day. It was observed that older girls who were mostly in form three and four were expected to be in school much earlier for remedial teaching and they mostly took about 20-30 minutes for lunch as they rushed to back to class to attend to their pending assignments, they hardly left their desks and therefore were more likely to either have inadequate time to eat their food or were likely to miss their meals in the morning and at lunch time. They however tended to have more time in the evening to sit down for family dinner, which could explain the increased intake of food per sitting in the evenings as reported by the respondents. Only binge eating and fruit consumption had an independent influence on snacking with girls who binge ate less likely to snack (corroborating the relationship between snacking and binge eating) while those who ate fruits were more likely to snack than those who did not eat fruits. This is mostly because girls who ate fruits, ate them as a snack rather than as part of the main meals. Although there are no documented studies that have reported any association between fruit consumption and snacking, in this study however the positive association could be explained by the fact that most girls who ate fruits consumed them as a snack rather than as part of the general three main meals.

Snacking and age influenced fruit consumption, with girls who snacked and those who were much older more likely to consume fruits than those who did not snack or were much younger. These findings contradict a study by Lazzeri *et al.*, (2013) where snacking was associated with reduced fruit intake/low fruit intake. This could mainly be because most of the fruits were taken as snack as the general main meals mostly did not have fruits servings, and therefore girls ate fruits as snacks.

Self-esteem and importance of body weight, factors otherwise considered to have an impact on food choices and eating habits did not have any association with eating habits of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. This suggests that motivation for the eating habits mainly described in Western contexts do not apply in this Kenyan context; and that psychosocial factors more commonly implicated in negative eating habits in the West, in spite of potential exposure to Western lifestyles, are not a problem in the context of the current study. This study pointed to a different concept of eating habits. It showed that eating habits among school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City were mostly adopted as a compensatory mechanism in comparison to Western studies that reported that eating habits in adolescent girls presented as deliberate efforts to promote a certain body image, a preference or adopted as a mechanism to establish a sense of belonging to specific peer groups

5.5 Nutrition Status and Eating habits

There was no significant relationship between nutrition status and most of the eating habits other than vegetable consumption. The findings showed that BMI increased by 0.19% in girls who consumed vegetables. This trend was also shared by a study in Southern Brazil where a general increase in BMI was associated with higher intake of five-a-day servings of vegetables, (Rieth et al., (2012). It however, differs with a study by Schroder (2010) that reported that vegetable consumption was not associated with weight gain. The findings also differed with other studies that have associated skipping meals with being overweight. A study by Sjoberg, (2003), Moy, (2006) & Chitra et al., (2007) an association between skipping meals and overweight. The current study did not show any significant association between skipping meals and increased BMI or weight of the girls who skipped meals. This could be because the girls were only compensating for missed foods during the day and they hardly took extra calories, overall. Although vegetable consumption was relatively lower, adolescent girls who consumed them were likely to have a higher BMI than those who did not. This is contrary to many studies that have associated high vegetable consumption with lower weight, however noting that in most households vegetables are taken as an accompaniment to starchy foods mostly "ugali," rice, mashed bananas and "chapati" and mostly in the evening when most girls reportedly binge ate, it is possible that a combination of these factors could have contributed to the increase in BMI, rather than vegetable consumption in itself. This suggests that vegetable consumption may therefore be a proxy indicator of overall higher energy consumption attributable more to the accompanying staple food, and/or the method of cooking of vegetables.

84

Although this study did not assess the impact of eating habits on academic performance, other studies including Pearson *et,al.*, (2009) research in United Kingdom have reported poor academic achievements among participants that skipped breakfast in comparison to those who had breakfast. This means that the high prevalence of skipping breakfast among the school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City could have long term implications on their school performance that could have a negative impact on their overall productivity in life. There is therefore need to further assess the impact of missing breakfast on school performance.

CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusion

Four conclusions can be drawn from this study:

First, underweight, overweight and obesity are present among school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. The prevalence of obesity and overweight combined is high, at 34.1%. Prevalence of underweight at 4.4% is lower than those reported in other African countries, but should however be addressed.

Second, the eating habits: snacking, binge eating, missing meals vegetable and fruit consumption, present in Western contexts are practised by school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. Low vegetable and fruit consumption as well as skipping breakfast are the most common eating habits of those discussed in Western contexts; and are all negative eating habits.

Third, self-esteem, household size, maternal and paternal employment, and cultural factors assessed do not influence eating habits of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City; but, the level (form) in which an adolescent girl is in, influences binge eating. The eating habits in this group, unlike adolescents in the West that result from psychosocial factors, are more of compensatory mechanisms to cater for missed meals or limited time to permit consumption of meals, rather than conscious decisions to reduce food intake or to cater for preferences.

Fourth, snacking, binge eating, fruit consumption and skipping meals do not influence nutrition status in school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City. Although vegetable consumption in this group is associated with increase in BMI, this increase is more likely associated with the starchy staples consumed along with vegetables rather than the vegetables themselves, which are normally associated with good nutritional status. Although several studies had explicitly reported a relationship between eating habits and nutrition status of adolescent girls, in this study only one eating habit, vegetable consumption influenced nutrition status.

6.2 Recommendations

The high prevalence of obesity and overweight, and the presence of underweight should be addressed. From this study, it is recommended that this may be achieved by:

- 1. Empowering adolescent girls through nutrition education that should address the following areas:
 - a. The importance of breakfast to maintaining good nutritional status
 - b. The importance of ensuring that meals are not skipped
 - c. Healthy food choices
 - d. The importance of fruit and vegetables in achieving good health.
- 2. The Schools' management through the Parents Teachers Association should facilitate sensitization of parents on the importance of ensuring that their daughters have breakfast every morning and on addressing the time constraints faced by the girls because of school and therefore the need to ensure that breakfast was prepared in good time. Practical ways to address the problem of time for breakfast preparation should be addressed.
- 3. School management, The Ministry of Health and other stakeholders should consider practical ways of influencing the types of foods sold in *kiosks* around schools to facilitate availability of healthy, affordable food options for the students.

6.3 Further Research

- 1. There is need to studies on nutrition status and eating habits among adolescent girls in both rural and urban areas; and adolescents who are not school-going, to establish if there are any differences in these different groups of adolescents.
- 2. The current study did not include the adequacy of the diets consumed by the adolescents. There is a need to conduct a study on the nutritional value of school diets in Kisumu to establish if they are adequate and possibly if they are contributing to the high prevalence of overweight cases among adolescent girls as well as why adolescent girls purchase food despite the school providing at least two meals.

REFERENCES

Abdel-Hady, A., & Elkhawaga, G., (2012). Socioeconomic Determinants of Eating Pattern of Adolescent Students in Mansoura, Egypt. *The Pan African Medical Journal*.13:22. Retrieved from:

http://www.panafrican-medjournal.com/content/article/13/22/full/ on 10th February 2015.

Adair, L. S., & Popkin, B. M., (2005). Are Child Eating Patterns Being Transformed Globally *Journal of Obesity Research*, *13:1281-1299*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/nutrans/publications/Adair%20Child%20Eating%20Patterns</u> <u>%200R%202005.pdf</u> on 20th May 2011.

Adolescent Nutrition. (2013).*California Nutrition and Physical Activity Guidelines for Adolescents*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/NutiritionandPhysicalActivity/Documents/MO-NUPA-AdolescentNutritionHandouts.pdfon 3rd January 2015</u>.

Adolescent Medicines Committee, (2005).Eating disorders in adolescents: principles of diagnosis and treatment. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 160:248-254. Retrieved from <u>http://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/doi/abs/10.1176/ajp.160.2.248</u> on 16th April 2012

Akinlade, A.R., Afolabi, W.O., Oguntona, E. B., Agbonlahor, M., (2014). Prevalence of Obesity among Adolescents in Senior Secondary Schools in Oyo State, Nigeria. *J Nutrition Health Food Science*2(4): 15 Retrieved from. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15226/jnhfs.2014.00130</u>on 4th May 2015

American Psychiatry Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. (4thed) Washington DC Retrieved from: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/research/umls/sourcereleasedocs/current/DSM4/on 10th May2010

Alam, N., Swapan, K., R., Tahmeed A., Shamsir, A., (2010)Nutritional Status, Dietary Intake, and Relevant Knowledge of Adolescent Girls in Rural Bangladesh. *Journal of Health Population Nutrition* page 86-94. Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2975850/on 13th May 2014

Asinobi,C.O., and Nwankwo, C.F.,(2010).Malnutrition and Common Diseases in Adolescent Girls in Rural Farming Community of Ohaji/ Egbema Local Government Area, Imo State, Nigeria. *Nigeria Journal of Nutritional Sciences*, Vol 31, No 1Retrieved from: <u>http://www.ajol.info/index.php/njns/article/view/63897</u>on 16th August 2014

Bailey, R.L., Gahche, J.J., Lentino, C.V., Dwyer, J.T., Engel J.S., Thomas P. R., (2007). Dietary Supplement Use in the United States, 2003-2006. *Journal of Nutrition.*; 141(2):261-6. 141:261-6. Retrieved fromhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21178089?dopt=Abstracton 12th February 2011

Balci, K. M., <u>Garber</u>, J.A., <u>King</u>, B.A., Prato, S.D., Sreenan, S., Muñoz-Torres, M., *et al.*, ((2012). Insulin degludec, an ultra-longacting basal insulin, versus insulin glargine in basalbolus treatment with mealtime insulin as part in type 2 diabetes (BEGIN Basal-Bolus Type 2): a phase 3, randomised, open-label, treat-to-target non-inferiority trial. *The lancet Volume* 379. No. 9825. p1498–1507, 21 Retrieved from http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(12)60205-0/abstract

Bargiota, A., Delizona, M., Tsitouras, A., Koukoulis (2013) Eating habits and factors affecting food choice of adolescents living in rural areas. Retrieved from: http://www.hormones.gr/pdf/HORMONES%202013-246.pdf

Bassett, R., ChapmanG. E., Beagan, B. L., (2007). Autonomy and Control: The Coconstruction of Adolescent Food Choice. Appetite 7; 50:325-332.pmid:17936413 Retrieved from http://webheapro.oxfordjournals.org

Beard (2002). Dieting Patterns and Related Lifestyles of School-aged Children in the Republic of Ireland. Public Health Nutrition: 5:457-462.

Bere, E., van Lenthe, F., Klepp, K-I. & Brug, J. (2008). Why do parent's education level and income affect the amount of fruits and vegetables adolescents eat. European Journal of Public Health 18(6), 611-615. Retrieved from http://eurpub.oxfordjournals.org/content/18/6 on 20th May 2016

Berkowitz, R., Stunkard, A. J., Stallings, V. A., (1993). Binge-Eating Disorder in Obese Adolescent Girls. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. Retrieved fromhttp://www.mendeley.com/research/bingeeating-disorder-obese-adolescent-girls /

Bisai, S., (2010). Maternal Height as an Independent Risk Factor for Neonatal Size Among Adolescent Bengalees in Kolkata, India: Ethiopia Health Sciences. 20(3): 153-158. Retrieved from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3275843/ on 15th May 2013

Brabin L., (2005). The Cost of Successful Adolescent Growth and Development in Girls in Relation to Iron and Vitamin A Status. American. Journal. of Clinical. Nutrition. ; 55: 955-8.

Bongaarts J., and Cohen B., (1998). Adolescent reproductive behavior in the developing world. Introduction and review. Study Family Planning: 29(2):99-105. Retrieved fromhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9664625

Bulik C., (2006). History, Current Status and Future Perspectives. European Journal Nutrition 43: 45–54.

Burgess, A., (1994) Community Nutrition for East Africa, African Medical Research Foundation.

Central Bureau of Statistics (CBS) [Kenya], Ministry of Health (MOH) [Kenya], and ORC Macro. (2004). Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2003. Calverton, Maryland: CBS, MOH, and ORC Macro. Retrieved from: http://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR151/FR151.pdf

CDC, (2012) Using the BMI-for-Age Growth Charts. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/growthcharts/training/modules/module1/text/module1print .pdf on 10thJuly 2015.

Chapman G.E., (1992) *Perspectives on Adolescent Women and Food, University of Toronto*. Retrieved from: <u>www.nin.ca</u>on 6th March 2011

Centre for Disease Control (2002) *Prevalence of Overweight among Children and Adolescents United States* retrieved from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity_child_11_12/obesity_child_11_12.htm</u>on_6th March 2011

CDC, (2014) Adolescent and School Health: Childhood Obesity Facts. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/obesity/facts.htmon 9 April 2015

Cheryl, D., (2012)*NCHS Health E-Stat Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among Children and Adolescents: United States, 1963–1965 Through 2011–2012.* Retrieved from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity_child_11_12/obesity_child_11_12.pdf</u>on June 2015

Chen, S., (2012) Association between Dietary Intake and Nutritional Status among Adolescent Girls in Kilosa District, Tanzania. Retrieved from: <u>http://scholarworks.umass.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1869&context=theses</u>on 12th April 2014

Chin, Y.S., and Nasir, M.T., (2009) Eating Behaviours among Female Adolescents in Kuantan District, Pahang, Malaysia. Pakistan. *Journal of Nutrition* 8(4):425-432. http://dx.doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2009.425.432

Chitra, U., Reddy C.R., (2008) The Role of Breakfast in Nutrient Intake of Urban School *Children. Public Health Nutrition* 10(1):55-58. <u>http://dx.doi.org</u>

Contento, I.R, Williams S.S., Michela J.L., Franklin A.B., (2006) Understanding the Food Choice Process of Adolescents in the Context of Family and Friends. *Journal of Adolescent Health 38*: 575-582. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16635770</u>

Cross, A.T., Babicz D., Cushman L.F., (2005) Snacking Patterns among 1,800 Adults and Children. *Journal American Diet Association*05:1398-1403.

Daee, A., Robinson, P., Lawson, M., Turpin, J. A., Gregory, B. & Tobias, J. D. (2002). Psychologic and Physiologic Effects of Dieting in Adolescents. *Southern Medical Journal* 95(2), 1032-1041. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nedc.com.au/e-bulletin-number-thirty-eight#article-one</u> on 20th May 2016

<u>Dapi, L.N[•]</u> Janlert, U., <u>Nouedoui, C.</u>, <u>Stenlund ,H</u>, <u>Håglin, L</u>., (2009) Socioeconomic and Gender Differences in Adolescents' Nutritional Status in Urban Cameroon, *Africa. Nutrition Res.* 29(5):313-9. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19555812</u>on 7th October 2011

Davies, S. L., Crosby, R. A. &DiClemente, R. J. (2009). Family Influences on Adolescent. *Understanding and Preventing Risk Behaviors*. 391-410. Retrieved from <u>http://eu.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0470176768.html</u> on 20th May 2016

Delisle, P., Bruno, D., Chandaria, B., (1999), Should Adolescents Be Specifically Targeted For Nutrition in Developing Countries, *To Address Which Problem and How*, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

Delisle, H., Chandra-Mouli, M., and Benoist, B., (2000) *Should Adolescents Be Specifically Targeted For Nutrition In Developing Countries:* To Address Which Problems and How. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

Delisle, H., and Strychar I., (2006) *Obesity in Adolescents: Prevention is Timely Even in Low-Income Countries.*

Dinsdale, H., Ridler, C., and Ells, L., (2011) A Simple Guide to Classifying Body Mass Index in Children. Oxford: *National Obesity Observatory*. Retrieved from: http://www.noo.org.uk/publicationson 21st June 2013.

Drewnowski, A., Henderson, S.A., Shore, A. B., Fischler, C., Preziosi. P., Hercberg, S., (1996) Diet Quality and Dietary Diversity in France: Implications for the French Paradox. *Journal of American Diet Association*; 96: 663-669.Retrieved from: http://211.76.170.15/server/APJCNon 21st June 2013.

Degner, J. A., and Klockow, S. L., (2013). Nutrition and Adolescent Development: *A Study of Adolescent Nutrition*. Retrieved from: http://www.charis.wlc.edu/publications/charis5-3/degnerklockow.pdf on 21st June 2015.

Dennison, C. M., Shepherd, R., (1995). Adolescent Food Choice: An Application of The Theory of Planned Behaviour. *Journal Human Nutrition and Dietetics*; 8:9-23

Durrani, A., (2005). Eating Frequency: Methodological and Dietary Aspects. *Journal Nutrition*,77 (Suppl 1):S7–20.

Duckworth, K., & Freedman, I. J., (2013) *Binge Eating Disorder Fact Sheet*. Retrieved from<u>http://www2.nami.org/factsheets/bingeeatingdisorder_factsheet.pdf</u> on 12th April 2015

Douketis, J.D., Feightner J W., Attia J., (1999). Examen Médical Périodique, Mise à Jour de Détection, Prévention et Traitement de L'Obésité. Canada *Medical Association Journal*; 160 (10Suppl):S1-

Duyff, R. L., (2002). Complete Food and Nutrition Guide American Dietetic Association. New York: Wiley.

Egolf, J., Marion, N., Mcthee, H.G., (2003). Food Pattern, Diet Quality, and Related Characteristics of School Children in New York State. *Journal American Diet Association*. 93:1280–1284.

Eveleth, P.B., Tanner, JM., (1990). *Worldwide Variation in Human Growth*, (2nded). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Estarjani, A., Egolf, T., (2005). Fast Food Restaurant Use among Adolescents: Associations with Nutrient Intake, Food Choice and Behavioural and Psychosocial Variables. *International Journal Obesity*', 25:1823.

Fahlman, M. F., Mc Caughtry, N., Martin, J. & Shen, B. (2010). Racial and SocioeconomicDisparities in Nutrition Behaviours: Targeted Interventions Needed. Journal of NutritionEducationandBehaviour42(1),10-16.Retrievedhttp://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/14994046/42/1on 20th 2016

French, S. A., Leffert, N., Story, M., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Hannan, P. & Benson, P. L. (2001). Adolescent binge/purge and weight loss behaviors: associations with developmental assets. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 28(3), 211-221. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1054139X0000166X on 20th May 2016

Fitzgerald, A., Heary1.,NixonE., KellyC., (2010). Factors influencing the food choices ofIrish children and adolescents: a qualitative investigation.Health Promotion InternationalVolume25, Issue3Pp. 289-298.,Retrievedhttp://heapro.oxfordjournals.org/content/25/3/289.shorton 15th May 2016

Food and Agriculture Organization, (2010).*Undernourishment around the World Depth of Hunger: How Hungry are the Hungry*. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/x8200e/x8200e03.htm_on 12/02/2015

Freedman, D.S., Serdula M. K., Srinavasan, R., (1999). Relation of Circumferences and Skin Fold Thicknesses to Lipid and Insulin Concentrations in Children and Adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutr*; 69:308-17.

Garcia-Grau, E., Fuste, M, A., Saldana, C., A (2004). Coping Style and Vulnerability to Eating Disorders Adolescent Girls. *European Eating Disorder Review* 12 61-67.

Gall D.M., Borg, W.R., Gall J.P., (1996). *Educational Research: An introduction* (6thedi) New York, Longman publishers USA.

Garriguet, D., (2004). Nutrition: Findings from the Canadian Community Health Survey. *Overview of Canadians' Eating Habits*. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.ca/english/research/82-620-on 10th may 2012

Glennerster, R., Kremer R., Mbiti, I., and Takavarasha, K., (2011). Access and Quality in the Kenyan Education System: A Review of the Progress, Challenges and Potential Solutions Retrieved from <u>http://www.povertyactionlab.org/publication/access-and-quality-kenyan-education-system</u>

Gluck, E. M., (2006). *Stress response and binge eating disorder*. New York Obesity Research Center, Departments of Medicine, St Luke's/Roosevelt Hospital Center, Columbia University. Retrieved from <u>http://www.saegre.org.ar/biblioteca/arbol_bibliografico/octubre2006/Appetite-2006-binge-</u> eating-disorder.pdf

Ganasegeran, K., Sami A. R., Qureshi, A., Rizal, A. M., (2012). Social and Psychological Factors Affecting Eating Habits among University Students in A Malaysian Medical School: A Cross-Sectional Study: *Nutritionl Journal* 11:48. Retrieved from http://www.nutritionj.com/content/pdf/1475-2891-11-48.pdf on 18th July 2015

Guerra, S., Duarte, J., Mota, J., (2001). Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease Risk factors in Schoolchildren. *European Physical Education* Review, 7(3), 269-281 Retrieved from

http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.1080/0301446021000054587_on 17th January2012

Grinnel,, R.M., (1993). Social Work Research and Evaluation (4thed). Illinois, F.E Peacock Publishers USA

Gross, S. M., Bronner, Y., Welch, C., Dewberry-Moore N., Paige, D.M., (2004). Breakfast and Lunch Meal Skipping Patterns among Fourth-Grade Children From Selected Public Schools in Urban, Suburban, and Rural Maryland. *Journal American Diet Association*; 104(3):420-423. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14993865</u>on 17th January 2012.

Golden, M. N., (1994). Is Complete Catch-Up Possible For Stunted Malnourished Children, *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*; 48 (Suppl 1): S58-71

Idowu, O., Kazeem A., Oshikoya, K.A., Odusanya, O. O., Njokanma F. O., (2011). *Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Stunting among School Children and Adolescents in Abeokuta, Southwest Nigeria.* Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3190367/

IFIC Foundation (2007). Child and Adolescent Nutrition Health and Physical Activity Gutierrez Y, King JC. 1993 *Nutrition during Teenage Pregnancy. Pediatric*, 22:99-108

Haas, J. D., Murdoch, S., Rivera, J., Martorell, R., (1996). *Early Nutrition and Later Physical Work Capacity. Nutrition* Review; 54 (Suppl II): S41-48

Hatloy, A., Torheim L.E., Oshaug A., (1998). Food Variety A Good Indicator of Nutritional Adequacy of The Diet A Case Study from an Urban Area in Mali, West Africa. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 52: 891 – 898.

Henningsen, M., (2011) Dietary habits in adolescence related to socio-demographic factors, physical activity and self-esteem. Retrieved from http://www.ntnu.no/documents/6409319/17892466/FULLTEXT01.pdf Retrieved on 20th May 2016

Herbeth, B., SpyckerellaY., Deschamps J. P., (2002). Determinants of Plasma Retinol, Beta-Carotene and Tocopherol during Adolescence. American. Journal. Of Clinical .Nutrition. 884-9.

Jennifer A., Okoye, V., Elumelu, F., Dahiru, A., & Pariya, H., (2012) Vitamin A and Iron Deficiency in Pregnant Women, Lactating Mothers and their Infants in Adamawa State, Nigeria: A Prospective Cohort Study. *American Journal of Food. Nutrition*, 2(1): 14-20. Retrieved from <u>http://scihub.org/AJFN/PDF/2012/1/AJFN-2-1-14-20.pdf</u> on 6th June 2014. Johnson, W.G., Rohan, K.J, Kirk, A. A., (2010). *Prevalence and correlates of binge eating in white and African American adolescents*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15001015</u> on 6th June 2014

Jones, J. M, Bennett, S., Olmsted, M..P., Lawson, M. L., Rodin G., (2001). Disordered eating attitudes and behaviors in teenaged girls: *A school-based study*. CMAJ; 165:547-52.

Kansi, J., Wichstrøm, L. & Bergman, L. R. (2003). Eating Problems and the Self-Concept: Results Based on a Representative Sample of Norwegian Adolescent Girls. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 32(5), 325-335. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A:1024917930602#/page-1 on 20th of May 2016

Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, (2010). *Population and House Census*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.knbs.or.ke/index.php?option=com_phocadownload&view=category&id=109:pop</u> <u>ulation-and-housing-census-2009&Itemid=599</u>on 18th May 2013

Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS) and ICF Macro. (2010) Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008-09. Calverton, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro Retrieved from <u>http://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/fr229/fr229.pdf</u>, on 10th May 2016

Krebs-Smith, S., Smiciklas-Wright, H., Guthrie, H., Krebssmith, J., (2007). The effects of variety in food choices on dietary quality. *Journal of American Diet Association*897-903. Retrieved from <u>http://dc.library.okstate.edu/cdm/singleitem/collection/theses/id/628/rec/12</u>on 18th May 2013

Kant. A.K., (2008). Indexes of Overall Diet Quality: A Review. *Journal American Diet Association:* 785-791.Retrieved from http://journals.lww.com/coclinicalnutrition/Abstract/2008/09000/Indices_of_diet_quality.2.as pxon 11th June 2013

Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and ICF Macro. (2010)*Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008-09. Calverton, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro. Retrieved from* <u>https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/SR178/SR178.pdf</u>

Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2011). *Kenya, Nyanza Province: Multiple Indicator Cluster* Survey. Retrieved from

http://www.childinfo.org/files/MICS4_Kenya_Nyanza_FinalReport_2011_Eng.pdfon 17th April 2013

Kisumu City Council (2004). Kisumu City Development Strategies (2004-2009): Lake Victoria Region City Development Strategies for Improved Urban Environment and Poverty Reduction.UN Habitat, Sida

Keel, P.K., Mitchell, J. E., Miller, K.B., (1999). Long-term Outcome of Bulimia Nervosa. *Arch. General. Psychiatry*; 56: 639.

Klindera, K., and Catheem, N., (2006). *The Nutritional Needs and Status of Adolescent Girls, Advocate & Youth*, Washington D.C U.S.A.

Kubik, M.Y., Lytle, L. A., Story, M., (2005). Schoolwide Food Practices Are Associated With Body Mass Index in Middle School Students. *Paediatric Adolescent Medicines*159:1111-1114.Retrieved from http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archpedi.159.12.1111

Kurz, K.M., (1996). Adolescent Nutritional Status in Developing Countries. *Nutrition Society;* 55:321-31.

Kurz K. M., Johnson-Welch, C., (2004). The Nutrition and Lives Of Adolescents In Developing Countries: Findings From *The Nutrition Of Adolescent Girls Research Program*.ICRW

Laura E. B., (2012).*Child Development*. Retrieved from https://www.pearsonhighered.com/showcase/berkcd9e/assets/pdf/Berk_0205149766_Ch5.pdf on 14th January 2014

Larson, N. I., Story, M., Wall, M. M. & Neumark-Sztainer, D., (2006). Calcium and Dairy Intakes of Adolescents Are Associated with their Home Environment, Taste Preferences, Personal Health Beliefs, and Meal Patterns. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 106(11), 1816-1824. Retrieved from<u>http://www.andjrnl.org/article/S0002-8223(06)01842-6/abstract</u> on 20th May 2016

Larson, I. N., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Hannan, J.P., Story, M., (2009). Trends in Adolescent Fruit and Vegetable Consumption, Project EAT *American Journal of Preventive Medicine:* Volume 32, pages 147-150. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749379706004375 on 20th may 2016

Lazzeri, G., Pammolli, A., Azzolini, E.,Simi, R.,Meoni, V., Giacchi, M.,(2013). Association Between Fruits and Vegetables Intake and Frequency of Breakfast and Snacks Consumption: A Cross-Sectional Study. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1186%2F1475-2891-12-12320th may 2016

Le'onie, N. D., Nouedoui, C., Janlert, U., and Ha[°]glin, L., (2005). Adolescents' Food Habits and *Nutritional Status in Urban and Rural Areas in Cameroon, Scandinavian Journal* of Nutrition Volume 49, No 4.Retrieved from

http://www.foodandnutritionresearch.net/index.php/fnr/article/view/1542/07th June 2013

Leenstra, T., Petersen, L.T, Kariuki, S. K., Oloo, A. J., Kager, P.A., Kuile, F.O., (2005). Prevalence and Severity of Malnutrition and Age at Menarche; Cross-Sectional Studies in Adolescent Schoolgirls in Western Kenya *European JournalClinical Nutrition*.59(1):41-8. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15305179</u>17th March 2016

Lin, B.H., Guthrie, J., Blaylock, J., (2007). The Diets of America's Children: Influences of Dining Out, Household Characteristics, and Nutrition Knowledge. *US Department of Agriculture, Economic Report Number746* (AER-746). USDA: Washington, DC; 1996. Retrieved from

http://www.journals.elsevierhealth.com/periodicals/yjada/article/S0002-8223(03)01086-1/references on 7th June 2012

Lin, B. H., Guthrie, J.F., Frazao, E., (1999). Nutrient Contribution of Food Away From Home. In: Frazao E (Ed). *America's Eating Habits: Changes and Consequences*. USDA: Washington, DC; pp 213 – 242. Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/ijo/journal/v25/n12/full/0801820a.htmlon 12th of February 2012

Heather, L., and Ollendick, T., (2003). "Negative Body Image and Disordered Eating Behavior in Children and Adolescents: What Places Youth at Risk and How Can These Problems Be Prevented: *Clinical Child and Family Psychology* Review 6(1):51–66.

Mallick, N., Ray, S., Mukhopadhyay, S., (2014). *Eating Behaviours and Body Weight Concerns among Adolescent Girls Advances in Public Health*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.hindawi.com/journals/aph/2014/257396/</u> on 22nd May 2016

Malhotra, A., and Passi, S. J., (2007). "Diet Quality and Nutritional Status of Rural Adolescent Girls Beneficiaries of ICDS in North India." Asia Pacific. *Journal. Nutrition*6 suppl: 8-16.

Marlow, A., (2006). *Adolescent Nutrition; Nutrition and Wellbeing Ato Z.* Retrieved from: www.faqs.orgon 4th June 2013

Martorell, R., Kettel, K. L., Schroeder, D.G., (1994). Reversibility of Stunting: Epidemiological Findings in Children from Developing Countries. *European Journal Clinical Nutrition* 48 (Suppl 1):S45-57

Marta, A., Marina, B. M, Flávio, D. F, Leila, B. M., Sandra C. F., (2012). Fruits and Vegetables Intake and Characteristics Associated Among Adolescents from Southern Brazil; *Nutrition Journal* 11:95. Retrieved from

http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=087caa7 2-9c92-4714-84c4-976a017883ba%40sessionmgr111&vid=4&hid=1244th May 2015.

Martin, A.M., May, L.A., Frisco, M. L., (2010). Equal Weights but Different Weight Perceptions among U.S. *Adolescents Journal Health Psychology*; 15(4): 493– 504.10.1177/1359105309355334. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4049457/pdf/nihms-593067.pdf</u> 4th May 2015.

Masheb, R. M., Roberto, C. A., and White, M A., (2013). *Nibbling and Picking in Obese Patients with Binge Eating Disorder*. Retrieved from <u>http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/detail/detail?vid=3&sid=0b6804b4</u> <u>619145ecacff48580cd2cd45%40sessionmgr4001&hid=4204&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3Qtb</u> <u>Gl2ZQ%3d%3d#db=a9h&AN=917267674</u>th May 2015 Mason, J.E., and Bramble J.W., (1997).*Research Education and Behavioural Sciences, Concepts and Methods.* Mexico City, Brown Benchmark Publishers. Matkovic, V., (2007).Calcium Balanced During Human Growth Evidence for Threshold Behaviour. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17344496 on 10th Feb 2012

Milosavljević, D., Mandić, M.L., Banjari, I.,(2015).Nutritional knowledge and dietary habits survey in high school population. *Coll Antropolopogy*.39(1):101-7. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26040077</u> on 20th May 2016

National Institute of Mental Health (2007) *Eating Disorders*. Retrieved from <u>http://stepupprogram.org/docs/handouts/Eating Disorders Brochure.pdf</u> on 5th June 2015

Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs (2011)*Strategic Guideline: Malnutrition in Developing Countries*. Retrieved from http://www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/IMG/pdf/Rapport_Nutrition_v_anglaise-2.pdf4th May 2015.

Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation (2012). *Nutritional Action Plan 2012-2017*. Retrieved from

http://scalingupnutrition.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/10/Kenya-National-Nutrition-Action-Plan-2012-2017-final.pdfon 2nd May 2014

Mirmiran, P., Azadbakht, L., Esmaillzadeh, A., and Fereidoun, A., (2004). Dietary Diversity Score in Adolescents -A Good Indicator *Asia Pacific Journal Clinical* Nutrition page 56-60 <u>http://211.76.170.15/server/APJCN/Volume13/vol13.1/fullArticles/Azizi.pdf</u>on 6th of September 2012

Mitchel, H., Lee, Y., and Birch, L. L., (2005) Parental Weight Status and Girls' Television Viewing, Snacking and Body Mass Indexes. *Journal of Obesity*11:143–151.

Montazerifar, F., Mansour, K., Dashipour, A.R, (2012) Evaluation of Dietary Intake and Food Patterns of Adolescent Girls in Sistan and Baluchistan Province, Iran. *Functional Foods in Health* and Disease page 62-71 Retrieved from http://www.functionalfoodscenter.net/files/50427502.pdfon 19th June 2015

Motil, K.J., Kertz B., Montandon C.M, Ellis K.J., (1996); *Dietary Nutrients are Diverted From Milk Production to Body Stores in Lactating Adolescents*. Fed Proc 10:A190

Moy, F. M., Gan, C.Y., and Zaleha, M.K., (2006). Eating Patterns of School Children and Adolescents in Kuala Lumpur. *Malaysian Journal of Nutrition* 12:1-10

Moreno, L.A., González-Gross, M., Kersting, M., Molnár, D., Henauw, S., Beghin, L., (2007). *Assessing, Understanding and Modifying Nutritional Status, Eating Habits*

Murat, B., Bozan, N., Cigerim, N., (2008). Dieting, Dietary Restraint, and Binge Eating Disorder among Overweight Adolescents in Turkey *Adolescence*, Vol. 43, No. 171Retrieved from:

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid= 4ff59c10-5d91-45bc-8ae5-fac50e49f6b9%40sessionmgr4003&hid=4112on 10th July 2014

Mulugeta, A., Hagos, F., Stoecker, B., Kruseman, G., Linderh, V., Zenebe, A., Girmay, S.,(2009). *Nutritional Status of Adolescent Girls from Rural Communities of Tigray, Northern Ethiopia*. Retrieved from:

http://ejhd.uib.no/ejhd%20v23n1/5%20Nutritional%20status%20of%20adolscent%20girls%2 0from%20rural%20communiti.pdfon 10th June 2013.

Musa Oriola A.L., Monyeki, M.A., &Lawa, .l B., (2012). Prevalence of Childhood and Adolescent Overweight and Obesity in Benue State, *Nigeria. Tropical* Journal 17(11):1369-75. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22974459</u> on 26th February 2015.

Mwadime, R., (2011). Accelerating National Policy making across Sectors to Enhance Nutrition. In: Fan, S., & Pandya-Lorch, R. (Eds.): *Reshaping Agriculture for Nutrition and Health*. Washington DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Neumark-Sztainer, E., Eisenberg, J. A. Fulkerson, M., Story, N., Larson, I., (2008).*Family Meals and Disordered Eating in Adolescents:* Retrieved from <u>http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=378850</u>on 7th of July 2012

Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., Perry, C., Casey, A. M., (2012).Factors Influencing Food Choices of Adolescents, *Journal Academy of Nutrition and dietetics*. Retrieved from http://www.andjrnl.org/article/S0012-8223(12)00222-9/abstract on 15th May 2016

Niekerk,, S.V., Grimmer, K., and Louw, Q., (2014). The Prevalence of Underweight, Overweight and Obesity in a Multiracial Group of Urban Adolescent Schoolchildren in The Cape Metropole Area of Cape Town. The South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition (SAJCN) *South African Journal Clinical Nutrition*: 1607-0658, ISSN Vol 27, No 1 . Retrieved from <u>http://www.sajcn.co.za/index.php/SAJCN/article/view/778/1132</u> on 12th June 2015

Nilsen, S. M., Krokstad, S., Holmen, T. L. & Westin, S. (2009). Adolescents' health-related dietary patterns by parental socio-economic position, The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT). *European Journal of Public Health* 20(3), 299-305. Retrieved from <u>http://eurpub.oxfordjournals.org/content/20/3/299</u> on 20th May 2016

Nsubuga, U., (2014). *A Food Approach to Your Teen*: Retrieved from<u>http://www.newvision.co.ug/news/652604-a-food-approach-to-your-teen.htmlon</u>12th June 2015.

Ogden, C.L., Katherine, M. F., Margaret, D., Clifford, J., (2002). "Prevalence and Trends in Overweight among U.S. Children and Adolescents, *Journal of the American Medical Association*288(14):1728–32

Okely, A., Lubans, R. D., Morgan, J. P., Puglisi, L., Miller, J., Wright, J., Batter. M. J., (2011). A School-Based Intervention to Promote Physical Activity among Adolescent Girls: Rationale, Design, and Baseline Data from The Girls in Sport Group Randomised Controlled Trial; *BMC Public Health Journal* 11:658: Retrieved from http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/pdf/1471-2458-11-658.pdf12th June 2015.

Onyiriuka, A. N., Umoru, D.D., Ibeawuchi, A.N., (2013) *Weight Status and Eating Habits of Adolescent Nigerian Urban Secondary School Girls* <u>http://web.b.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=57fa23f</u> <u>2-b20f-4192-b536-7637ab11a42c%40sessionmgr115&vid=4&hid=123</u>12th June 2015.

Pearson, N., Biddle, S. J., and Gorely, T., (2009). Family Correlates of Breakfast Consumption among Children and Adolescents. *A Systematic Review. Appetite*, 52:1–7.

Pande, R. P., and Nan, M. A.,(2007). "Explaining Son Preference in Rural India: The Independent Role of Structural versus Individual Factors. Population Research and Policy.

Physical Activity in European Adolescents: The HELENA (Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence) Study. *Public Health Nutrition*, 11, 288-299: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17617932?access_num=17617932&link_type=MED& dopt=Abstracton 2nd September 2014

Post, G.B., Kemper H.C., (1993). Nutrient Intake and Biological Maturation during Adolescence. The Amsterdam Growth and Health Longitudinal Study. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition: 47:400-8.

Proos, L., & Gustafsson J., (2012) Is Early Puberty Triggered by Catch-Up Growth Following Under nutrition: *Int. Journal . Environ. Res. Public Health* 9, 1791-1809;

Puhl, R. M., and Chelsea, A. H., (2009.). The Stigma of Obesity: *A Review and Update*. *Obesity* 17(5):941–64. Retrieved from http://www.asanet.org/images/journals/docs/pdf/jhsb/Mar10JHSBFeature.pdf on 17th May 2014

Ransom, E., and Elde, K., (2003). *Nutrition of Women and Adolescent Girls. Why It Matters*. Retrieved from-<u>www.prb.org</u>on 3rd March 2014

Rees, J. M., Christine, M, T., (2006). Nutritional Influences on Physical Growth and Behaviour in Adolescence. In: Adams G, ed. *Biology of Adolescent Behaviour and Development*. California: Sage Publications.

Rodriguez, C. J., (2009). *Eating Habits; Nutrition and Wellbeing A-Z*. Retrieved from<u>http://www.faqs.org/nutrition/Diab-Em/Eating-Habits.html</u>on 25th October 2014

Roos, E. B., Hirvonen, T., Mikkila, V., Karvonen, S. & Rimpela, M. (2001). Household Educational Level as a Determinant of Consumption of Raw Vegetables among Male and Female Adolescents. *Preventive Medicine* 33, 282-291. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091743501908825 on 20th May 2016

Rosenberg, M., (1965). *Society and Adolescent Self-image*. Princeton: Princeton University Press; Retrieved from

http://fetzer.org/sites/default/files/images/stories/pdf/selfmeasures/Self_Measures_for_Self_Esteem_ROSENBERG_SELF-ESTEEM.pdf on January 2010.

Roslyn, B., Melissa P. M., Peterson, C.B., Scott, J.C., and James, E. M., (2003). *Relation of Binge Eating Age of Onset to Functional Aspects of Binge Eating in Binge EatingDisorder*. Retrieved from

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=40e7242 e-0b27-4dc2-b901-e16f332f2f4b%40sessionmgr4002&vid=6&hid=4207on3rd August 2011.

Tucker, K.L., (2001). Eat a Variety of Healthful Foods: Old Advice with New Support. *Nutrition Review* 59(5): 156-15.

Sabageh, O. A., and. Ojofeitimi, O.E., (2013). Prevalence of Obesity among Adolescents in Ile-Ife, Osun State, Nigeria Using Body Mass Index and Waist Hip Ratio: A Comparative Study *Nigeria Medical Journal*. 54(3): 153–156.retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3719239/</u> on 26th February 2015.

Savige, G., MacFarlane, A., Ball, K., Worsley, A., and Crawford, D., (2007). Snacking Behaviours of Adolescents and Their Association with Skipping Meals. International *Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical activity*, 4:36 10.1186/1479-5868-4-36. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/4/1/36#B12</u>on 9th of July 2015.

Sallis, J.F., & Owen, N., (1999). *Physical Activity and Behavioural* Medicine. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Pub.

SECA Limited (2011) *Seca 217 Stadiometer For Mobile Height Measurement*. Retried from <u>http://www.interdent.co.th/ad/products_picture/27062014165954_2.pdf</u> on 9th of July 2015.

Sibi–Chakravarthy, R., Thiruselvakumar, D., Sinuvasan, K., Venkatesh, E., & Kailash, C., (2012). Snacking Behaviour and Their Correlates among Urban School Going Adolescents. Sri Lakshminarayana Institute of Medical Sciences, Pondicherry, India, *New Indian Journal of Surgery* Volume 3 Number 3.Retrieved from

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=4ff59c1 0-5d91-45bc-8ae5-fac50e49f6b9%40sessionmgr4003&vid=4&hid=4112

Sjoberg, A., Hallberg, L., Hoglund, D., Hulthen L., (2003). Meal Pattern, Food Choice, Nutrient Intake and Life Style Factors in the Goteborg Adolescence Study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 57(12):1569-1578.Retrievd from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601726</u>

Soo, K. L., Shariff, Z. M., Taib, M. N., Samah, B. A., (2008). Eating behaviour, body image, and self-esteem in adolescent girls in Malaysia. *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 106(3), 833-844. Retrieved from <u>http://www.amsciepub.com/doi/abs/10.2466/pms.106.3.833-844</u> on 20th may 2016

Stag, J., Story, M., (2005). *Guidelines for Adolescent Nutrition Services*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.epi.umn.edu/let/pubs/adol_book.shtm</u>on 9th of July 2015.

Stella, K., Muthuri, K.S., (2014). Evidence of an Overweight/Obesity Transition among School-Aged Children and Youth in Sub-Saharan Africa: *A Systematic Review*. Retrieved from

http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0092846#s3on 9th of July 2015.

Story, M., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2005). A Perspective on Family Meals: Do They Matter *Nutrition Today*, 40, 261-266. Retrieved from http://www.aapnj.org/uploadfiles/documents/f153.pdfon 10th of July 2013.

Soyer, M.T., Ergin, I., Gursoy S.T. (2008). Effects of Social Determinants on Food Choice and Skipping Meals among Turkish Adolescents. *Asian Pacific Journal Clinical Nutrition*17:208-213.

Strychar, I., (2006). Obesity in Adolescents: Prevention is Timely Even in Low-Income Countries, In: Moreria A.D., ed., *Tackling The Double Burden of Malnutrition: A Global Agenda*, SCN (UN System Standing Committee on Nutrition) News no. 32, Lavenham press, United Kingdom, pp 51-58.

Schwarze, N. J., Oliver, J.M and Handal P.J. (2003).Binge Eating is Related To Negative Self-Awareness, Depression and Avoidance in Undergraduates. *Journal of college students Development* 44, 644-652.

Scholl, T.O., Hediger, M.L., Ances I.G., (1990).Maternal Growth during Pregnancy and Decreased Infant Birth Weight. *American Journal Clinical Nutrition* 51:790-3.

Senderowitz, J., (2004). *Young People and Anaemia on Young Adults*, Pathfinder International Washington.

Serdula, M. K., Ivery, D, Coates, R. J., (1993).Do Obese Children Become Obese Adults: A Review of the Literature. *Preventive Medicine*; 22:167-77.

Sheperd, R., and Dennison, C. M., (1996).Influences on Adolescent Food Choices. *Nutrition Society*; 55:345-57

Shisslack, C.M, Crago, M., Mcknight, K. M., Km Estes, L. S., Gray N., Pamaby, O.G., (1998).Potential Risk Factors Associated With Weight Control Behaviours In Elementary and Middle School Girls. *Journal of Psychomosomatic Research*; 44; 301-313.

Spear, B., (1996). Adolescent Growth and Development. In: Rickert VI (Ed). *Adolescent Nutrition. Assessment and Management*. New York: Chapman & Hall, 1-24.

Schur, E.A., Sanders, M., Steiner, H., (2000). Body Dissatisfaction and Dieting in Young Children. *International Journal of Eating Disorder*27:74-82.

Soyer, M.T., Ergin I., Gursoy, S.T., (2008). Effects of Social Determinants on Food Choice and Skipping Meals among Turkish Adolescents. Asian Pacific *Journal of Clinical*. *Nutrition*; 17:208-213.

Tanofsky-Kraff, M., Shomaker, L., Miller, E., Sebring, N., Hubbard, V.S., Yonayski, N., (2012). Children's Binge Eating and Development Of Metabolic Syndrome. *International Journal of Obesity*. Vol. 36 Issue 7, p956-962. 7p.

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.cc.andrews.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=40e7242 e-0b27-4dc2-b901-e16f332f2f4b%40sessionmgr4002&vid=7&hid=4207on 24th April 2014

The American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry (2011).Retrieved from http://www.aacap.org/App_Themes/AACAP/docs/facts_for_families/79_obesity_in_children_and_teens.pdf of July 2014.

Theobald, H. E., (2005). Dietary Calcium and Health: *British Nutrition Foundation Nutrition Bulletin*, 30, 237–277. Retrieved from http://www.nutrition.org.uk/attachments/105_Dietary%20calcium%20and%20health.pdf on 17th July,2013.

Thompson-McCormick, J. J., Thomas J.J., Bainivualiku, A.,Khan, A.N., Becker, A.E., (2010). Breakfast Skipping as a Risk Correlate of Overweight and Obesity in School-Going Ethnic Fijian Adolescent Girls. *Asia Pacific Journal of ClinicalNutrition*19(3):372-382. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20805082</u> on 14th July 2014

UNFPA, (2012). *Towards Realizing the Full Potential of Adolescents and Youth: Adolescents and Youth.* Retrieved from<u>http://www.unfpa.org/public/adolescents</u>on 9th of July 2015.

UNICEF, (2012). *Progress for Children: A report card on adolescents*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.unicef.org/media/files/PFC2012_A report_card_on_adolescents.pdf</u>Retrieved on 12th June 2015.

UNICEF (2005).State of The World's Children. United Nations Press, New York. Retrieved from <u>http://www.unicef.org/sowc/on 15th March 2013</u>

Wallace, J. M., Hannon-Fletcher, M. P., and Livingstone, M. B., (2005). Snacking Patterns among Adolescents: A Comparison of Type, Frequency and Portion Size Between Britain and Northern Ireland. *Journal of Nutrition*, 101:122–131

Wallace, J.M., Aitken, R.P., & Cheyne M. A., (1996). Nutrient Partitioning and Fetal Growth in Rapidly Growing Adolescent Ewes. *Journal of Reproductive Fertility* 10:183-90.

Wang, Y., Popkin, B., Zhai, F., (1998). The Nutritional Status and Dietary Pattern of ChineseAdolescents, Journal Clinical Nutrition; 52: 908-16.

Walden Behavioural Care, (2014). *Teenage Eating Disorders*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.waldenbehavioralcare.com/resources/popular-searches/teen-eating-disorders/on</u> 9th of July 2015.

Warren, E., Parry, O., Lynch R., Murphy S. (2008). If I Don't Like it Then I Can Choose What I Want': Welsh School Children's Accounts of Preference for and Control Over Food Choice. *Health Promotion International* 23:144-151; Retrieved from http://heapro.oxfordjournals.org/content/23/2/144.abstract?ijkey=c0fe4c45f58105ea051ac5a9 d13778ada09e57ab&keytype2=tf_ipsecshaon 27th March 2014

Washi, S.A., & Ageib, M.B., (2010). Poor Diet Quality And Food Habits Are Related To Impaired Nutritional Status in 13 - To 18- Year-Old Adolescents in Jeddah. Nutrition 30(8):527-34.

Williams, S., (1994). Essentials in Nutrition and Diet Therapy 6thEditon, MOSBYWHO Preparation and Use of Food Based Dietary Guideline.

World Health Organization, (2012). Anaemia among adolescent and young adult women in Latin America and the Caribbean: A cause for concern. Retrieved from: http://www.unscn.org/layout/modules/resources/files/AnemiaEngWEB.pdfon 19th of January 2015.

World Health Organization, (2009). Global Health Risks: Mortality and Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risks Geneva, Switzerland: Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global burden disease/GlobalHealthRisks report full.pdf on $10^{\text{th}} \text{ may } 2011.$

World Health Organization (2008). Obesity Situation and trends Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk_factors/obesity_text/en/on 10th may 2011.

World Health Organization, (2007). Growth Reference 5-19 Years. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/growthref/en/on 20th June 2012.

World Health Organization, (2005). Nutrition in Adolescence Issues and Challenges for the Health Sector Issues in Adolescent Health and Development. Retrieved from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2005/9241593660 eng.pdf on 12th June 2015

Xiaojia, G., Glen, H., Elder Jr., Mark R., and Christine C., (2001). "Pubertal Transitions, Perceptions of Being Overweight, and Adolescents' Psychological Maladjustment: Gender and Ethnic Differences." Social Psychology Quarterly64(4):363-75.

Yamamura, E., (2010). Influence of Body Image in Urbanized Areas: Differences in Long-Term Changes in Teenage Body Mass Index between Boys and Girls in Japan. Retrieved from http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/23436/1/MPRA_paper_23436.pdf on 12th June 2015.

Yasemin, I. B., Karabulut, A., Gürses, D., Ethem, I., (2012). Prevalence and Risk Factors of Anaemia among Adolescents in Denizli, Turkey. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3448219/on 12th June 2015

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: RESEARCH PERMIT

REPUBLIC OF KENYA



NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Telegrams: "SCIENCETECH", Nairobi Telephone: 254-020-241349, 2213102 254-020-310571, 2213123. Fax: 254-020-2213215, 318245, 318249 When replying please quote

P.O. Box 30623-00100 NAIROBI-KENYA Website: www.ncst.go.ke

Date 20th April, 2011

Our Ref: NCST/RRI/12/1/MED-011/40/4

Caroline Kanaiza Maseno University P. O. Box Private Bag MASENO

RE: RESEARCH AUTHORIZATION

Following your application for authority to carry out research on "Eating habits and the nutritional status of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu City, Kenya" I am pleased to inform you that you have been authorized to undertake research in Kisumu East District for a period ending 30th November, 2011.

You are advised to report to the District Commissioner and the District Education Officer, Kisumu East District before embarking on the research project.

On completion of the research, you are expected to submit one hard copy and one soft copy of the research report/thesis to our office.

P. N. NYAKUNDI FOR: SECRETARY/CEO

Copy to: The District Commissioner Kisumu East District

The District Education Officer Kisumu East District

TAGENAL COLING STRATE A STATE OF STATE OF SHAL OWNER FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCIL	L FOR SOLENCE AND TECHNOLOG
TATRAS, DO AS I DECEMBER OF AND TECHNOLOGYNAU COUNCE AND TECHNOLOGYNAU COUNCE I DECEMBER OF AND TECHNOLOGYNAU COUNCE I DECEMBER OF AND TECHNOLOGYNAU COUNCE	L FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG . É 2 07 Sétence and Technolog
ROWHAL PLACED AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SECTION ADD COUNCIL FOR SECTION ADD TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCIL	EPROFILE AND LECTION DOG
ACTIVE CONTRACT OF THE ACTIVE TO AND THE ACTIVE TO AN ACTIVE FOR SUMPERAL ACTIVE ACTIV	CHOROGENERATEM NOTCH.
TO DEAL THE AND THE TRANSPORTED AND THE REPORT OF SUBJECT ON SUBJECT ON SUBJECT ON SUBJECT OF THE AND THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY	FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG
CADON INC. CANALTA	Wer science and technolog
OF CHACKENDER CANDENSE AND TECHNOLOGICAL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE TO COLORGE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION AND TECHNOLOGYNATION ALCOUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION ACCOUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION ACCOUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION ACCOUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATION ACCOUNCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIC SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIC SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIC SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE SCIENCE FOR SCIENCE FO	EFOR SCIENCE AND FECHNOLOG
CALMAN FOR SCHEME AND TO THE AND THE PARTY OF THE FOR SCHEME AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCIL	FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG
OT (ADDIESS): HAD. PHIVATE BAG, MASENOL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNIC CON	TROP NO TECHNOROG
has been permitted to conduct research inclusion Science and rechnological	BACEAND TECHNOLOG
LA CREAT CONTROL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY MATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	BICE AND TECHNOLOG
AN OKISUMUL CITY EACE ALC TECHNOLOGY ARONAL COCALION SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	2 INCE AND TECHNOLOG
ALKISUMUEAST	ENGE AND TECHNOLOG
HINYANZA FOR SCIENCE AND LECHNOL STRANONAL PROVINCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	INCE AND TECHNICLOG
AND MELECROPHIC FOR SUBJECT AND TECHNOLOGY RATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SUBJECT AND TECHNOLOGY ATTOMAL COUNCIL FOR SUBJECT AND TECHNOLOGY NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SOLENOF AND TECHNOLOGY	ENDERND FLORMOLUE
on the hopic R STEATING HABITS & THE COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG	ENCE AND TECHNOLOG
AUTWALDOUDDE TO SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY DIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	INCEAND FECHERCOC
AS AN A CALEGO AND A CHARACTERING AND A CALEGO AND A CALE	SROE AND TECHNIQUOG
ATICHIAL COLLECT, FUR SCIENCE AND IS CHAOL STRAITCHAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY	ERCS AND TECHNOLOG
ATTONAL COURCE DER SCHENGE ANT (SCHROCHENTHROUGHAL DER SCHENGE AND FURNICUS)	ENGLANU LEGHNOLOG FOR REISHOLAND TECHNOLOG
ACTIVATE CONTROL FOR ACCEPTION OF AN OPPORTUGINAL COUNCE FOR SCHINGE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCE	FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG
ATERNAL COURSE FOR STREETE AND THE AND THE AND THE AND TRANSPORTED AND TRANSPOR	VER SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOG
TET FOL COLLECT MAR SUBALIK FOL LICHART DIN AS FUNDEL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TEXEMPTO TRADUNAL COUNCE STRONG, DOUBLE FOR SCIENCE AND ECHNOL DE MAR ONAL COUNCE FOR SCIENCE AND TEXEMPTO TRADUNAL COUNCE	ADR SOLM EX RECEIVED OF
A 1945 COMPLET OF SCIENCE ARE TECHNOL FRANKLONIAL ODIWOL FOR SCIEN SE MIR TECHNOLOGRAPHIAM L C HUICE	POR SOFTIME AND TROUBOUDE
NYAMA, COURCE, FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOL SYMMITONAL COUNCE, FOR SCIENCE AND THINKING MANAGEMENT. COURSE In MARCE PROMICE AND SCIENCE AND ISCHURCE SAMINET ON A COUNCE, FOR SCIENCE AND TOTAL COUNCE, AND TOTAL COURSE	CREATING AND FECHNICLDE
ASTERNAL COURSE FOR SCIENCE AND SUCH SYNATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE ASIGNATURE SYNATION NATIONAL	I Council for technolog
Ther a period ending 30" November 2011 CL FOR ECHICE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL CS Cle	nce and Technology
THE WAS CONTRUE AND TRUBBLE AND TRUBBLE ACTIVITIES AND TRUBBLE AND T	, POR SCIENCE AND VECHWOLOG
NOTARE, COUNCIL FOR NOTIONER AND TECHNOLOGY MAR COUNCIL FOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGYNATIONAL COUNCIL	FOR SCIENCE AND VECKIMULOC

-

APPENDIX 2: MINISTRY OF EDUCATION APRROVAL FOR RESEARCH

MINISTRY OF EDUCATION

Telegrams:

Telephone: Kisumu (057) 43409 When replying please quote



REPUBLIC OF KENYA

DISTRICT EDUCATION OFFICE KISUMU EAST P.O. BOX 1914 <u>KISUMU</u>

REF: KSM/MIS/29/III/123

7th June, 2011

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

RE: RESEARCH AUTHORIZATION – CAROLINE KANAIZA

The bearer of this letter is a student of Maseno University College. She has been authorized to carry out research on Eating habits and the nutritional status of school going adolescent girls in Kisumu East District for a period ending 30th November, 2011.

Kindly accord her the necessary assistance.

B. OWUOR FOR: DISTRICT EDUCATION OFFICER KISUMU EAST

APPENDIX 3: SCHOOLS IN KISUMU

KISUMU EAST DISTRICT - SECONDARY SCHOOLS STATUS, ENROLMENT AND STAFFING

1/	·····								FORM 3 FURM 4							TRS ESTAB.			
SCHOUL	0	UKM I	T +	r p		ĩ	B	6	T	B	G	1	ſ	М	F	T			
	<u>Б</u> /Л	U		17		78	19	76	45	22	6		28	4	2	6			
AROMBU	40	40	on	52		07	76	34	60	25	2	6	51	8	5	13			
NOURU	41	40		45	40	15	67		67	56	ţ.		56	4	2	6			
WITHUR	143	- E7	(4) 07	40 CI	- //7	07	58	59	117	32	2	5	57	6	7	13			
ALENDU	45	0/ 00	100	al mc	42 C2	169	07	59	156	75	5	1	126	6	6	12			
LELA	65	40	100	20	24	 CR	- ng	25	45	21	1]	30	6	2	8			
MASUGU	40	40	00	20	170	170		112	117		8	0	80	6	10	16			
MIGINGO	1		120	-	120	53	75	15	41	77	1	4	41	1	3	4			
NYAKAKANA	40	40	<u>80</u>	04	10	 //1	<u></u>	20	1 6D	35	17	0	55	3	1	3			
KANYAGWAL	40	40	00	21	1a 60	40			48	- <u>+</u>	1	n I	40	2	5	7			
KOBURA		4 <u>1</u>	4U	-	40 20	40	75	12	38	20		ĥ	36	3	3	6			
DNGECHE	25	25	30	21	<u> 20</u>	00	20	10	720	16	ī t		167	17	15	32			
DTIENO OYOD	210		210	260		280	1 <u>200</u> 76	20	86	33		74	57	2	6	8			
BISHOP ABIERO	40	40	NU NV	43	54 00	07	193	29	109	 		77	83	5	7	13			
OR. ALOD GUMBI	11	28	105	64	<u> 33</u>	15	10	104	90	10	- +-	38	83	9	10	19			
JOEL OMINO	34	27	101	42	41	105	/ 100	42	10.0	- 40		57	INF	9	14	23			
KASAGAM	79	<u> 67</u>	145	b3	12	100	30	00	104	71	8	-	738	32	23	55			
<u>KISUMU BOYS</u>	251	-	251	288	-	230	210	100	210			735	235	27	34	56			
" KISUMU GIRLS'	-	281	281	-	218	2/8	798	1 202	720		97	ε	197	76	1	37			
KISUMU DAY	240		240	253	-	203	440		12			97	188	16	74	40			
LIONS	104	96	200	115	115	1231			07		5-+	J4.	73	13	1	14			
MIWANI	99	-	99	100	-	1 100	1 <u>'</u>		- <u></u>	-+	8	24	57	6	5	11			
NYALUNYA	38	4[]	78	4	148	90	- <u>44</u> 	20			1	- <u></u> 74	61	9	16	15			
NYAMASARIA	15	25	40	23	13	30	-) (ita -) 7	20	- 01		$\frac{1}{2}$	76	76	- F	17	13			
OBMOLO	62	40	102	61	39	100	- 4	1 2 2	137	- U		14	171	7	6	8			
OKOK	25	20	45	22	20	47	- 3-	120				14 C	17	3	3				
ORONGO	49	47	96	27	4	68			121			<u>u</u> 1/	75	<u> </u>	3	9			
ST.ALBERT ANGIRA	40	40	80	19	27	46	$-\left\lfloor \frac{\mathcal{U}}{2\pi} \right\rfloor$	10			10	14	50	5	7	7			
MAYIENYA	26	19	45	30	20		- 8	29	<u>d</u>	L F	37	 	67	- <u>-</u>	- 18	- 13			
ST. IGNATIUS	73	81	154	54	51	495		4/	10	4	1	911	07		L L				
MAGADI						_	_					17	70	4	6	8			
KINDU	29	31	60	25	27	52		23			ן זב	17	1.20	- τ	- 5	10			
ST. PETER'S NANGA	12	10	22	24	19	43	Z	23	3	3	10	10 105	140		2	4 7			
ST. TERESA'S		160	160	-	162	162		116		<u>p</u>	ๆ ยำ	100	01	4	1				
XAVERIAN	40	40	80	40	53	93	1	46	9	4	<u>55</u>	40	04		1	er :			
HIGHWAY	25	5 40	65	5 30	38	3 68	2	8 4	2	70	35	36	64	≁ ¦_ ſ	1	2			
LIBERTY										<u>_</u>									
MUSLIM											8-7			, ,		5			
NEW-KISHMU GARE	27.1 2	6	9	4	- 6:	12	5	7		12	<u>wy</u>	15	4 Î			R.			
NYANZA CHRISTIAN	i ji	4 17	31	11	9	21	28	- 6	1	\square	لچار	1_14	3 3	6	σι ()				
STAHKADIDNDILLO	07 7'	7 32	50	728	2	1 5:	2	16 -	23 1	+9	25	22	4	<u>/</u> /		7			
ST PATRICK	12	2 2	234	+ 07	1 0	8 1	<u> </u>	13 0	9	22	20	(8	1-28	z (2	5			
CENVENT	10	10	1 20	1 9	ľ	7 2	6 2	27		29	25	10	135	5 6	-	3			
KISUMELSTIETH	1	1 2	2 29	1	1 2	¥ 30	ž.	14/1	3 3	27	<u>U</u>	19	3	0	5	<u> </u>			
DR FI HEFNI	- if	6 T	8 3	4 17	2	74	4 1	2 -	28	40	14	13	3 2	7		d			
VISEA EMANIE		<u> </u>			-	·													
THERVA	70	71	40	-			-	-]	-	-	-			0.00			
I DURINA	+ 0							01 11	มาก โ	nang i	600	000	: 1446	19 2	6H	718 1.			


APPENDIX 4: MAP OFSECONDAY SCHOOLS IN KISUMU

APPENDIX 5: QUESTIONNAIRRE 1.0 Questionnaire Information

Questionnaire No	Date of the interview	Interviewer	Name of school	Class	Estate

2.0 Demographic Data

2.1	Household Data
2.10	Total No of HH members
2.11.	Total No of HH members 12-19 years
2.12	Total No. Of girls 12-19 years
2.2	Education level
2.20	Mother: $1 < \text{or} = 8$ years: 2. 9<0r=12 years: 3. 13 and above years
2.21	Father: $1 < \text{or} = 8 \text{ years}$: 2. 9<0r=12 years: 3. 13 and above years
2.22	Elder sisters: $1 < \text{or} = 8$ years: 2. $9 < \text{or} = 12$ years: 3. 13 and above years
2.3	Occupation
2.30	Mother: 1. Formal employment 2. Business woman 3.informal employment 4.H.wife
2.31	Father: Formal employment 2. Business woman <i>3</i> .informal employment 5.
	Unemployed
2.32	Elder sisters: Formal employment 2. Business woman 3.informal employment 5.
	Unemployed

3.0 Anthropometry

3.1		3.2	3.3	3.4	ļ
Age in		Height in Metres	Weight in	BMI	
years			Kg		

4.0 Eating habits

4.1Skipping of meals

Have you skipped the following foods in the last 7 days?

Yes.....No

Meal	Reasons for skipping	Number of times in the last 7 days
Breakfast		
Lunch		
Dinner		

4.2 Vegetable consumption

Have you consumed vegetables in the past 7 days : Yes..... No.....

Vegetable	Reason	Source	Where it	With whom	No of times in the
			was	was food	last 7 days
			taken	consumed	
				with	

4.3 Fruit consumption

Have you consumed fruits in the past 7 days?

Yes No.....

Food	Reason	Source	Where it was taken	With whom was food consumed with	No of times in the last two weeks

4.4Snacking

Have you had any snacks in between meals in the last 7 days? Yes No.....

Food	Reason	Source	Where it was	With whom was food	No of times in the last
			taken	consumed with	7 days

4.5 Binge eating

Have you had more than normal serving of food in one sitting the last 7 days? Yes No......

Food	Reason	Source	Where it	With whom	No of times
			was	was food	in the last
			taken	consumed	7 days
				with	

5.0 Factors Affecting Eating habits

5.1Psychological factors

Weight-Related Attitudes	
How important is your body weight to you	
Very important : 2. Important: 3. Not so important: 4. Not at all	
important	
Has this influence	

Skipping Vegetable Yes/ No/ Yes/ Snacking Binge Yes/ Yes/ eating l can't fruit No/ l No/ l No/ l meals can't can't tell consumption can't tell tell tell

5.2Self-esteem assessment

Adoj	oted from Rosenberg Self-esteem assessment tool				
1.	On the whole, I am satisfied with myself.	SA	Α	D	SD
2.*	At times, I think I am no good at all.	SA	Α	D	SD
3.	I feel that I have a number of good qualities.	SA	Α	D	SD
4.	I am able to do things as well as most other people.	SA	Α	D	SD
5.*	I feel I do not have much to be proud of.	SA	Α	D	SD
6.*	I certainly feel useless at times.	SA	Α	D	SD
7.	I feel that I'm a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with	SA	А	D	SD
	others.				
8.*	I wish I could have more respect for myself.	SA	Α	D	SD
9.*	All in all, I am inclined to feel that I am a failure.	SA	Α	D	SD
10.	I take a positive attitude toward myself.	SA	Α	D	SD
11	Total score				

Scoring: SA=3, A=2, D=1, SD=0. Items with an asterisk are reverse scored, that is, SA=0, A=1, D=2, SD=3. Sum the scores for the 10 items. The higher the score, the higher the self-esteem.

a. Has this influence

Snacking	Yes/	Binge	Yes/	Skipping	Yes/	Vegetable	Yes/
_	No/ l	eating	No/ l	meals	No/ l	fruit	No/ l
	can't	_	can't		can't	consumption	can't
	tell		tell		tell	-	tell

5.3Eating Disorder assessment

Adopted from Eating Attitudes Test (EAT -26)					
Have you gone on eating binges where you feel that you may not be able to stop?					
(Eating much more than most people would eat under the same circumstances)					
Yes : 2. No					
How many times in the last 6 months?					
Always = 0 : Usually = 0: Often = 0: Sometimes = 1: Rarely = 2: Never = 3					
Have you ever made yourself sick (vomited) to control your weight or shape?					

Yes : 2. No	
How many times in the last 6 months?	
Always = 0 : Usually = 0: Often = 0: Sometimes = 1: Rarely = 2: Never = 3	
Have you ever used laxatives, diet pills or diuretics (water pills) to control your weight	
or shape?	
<i>Yes</i> : 2. <i>No</i>	
How many times in the last 6 months?	
Always = 0 : Usually = 0: Often = 0: Sometimes = 1: Rarely = 2: Never = 3	
Have you ever been treated for an eating disorder?	
<i>Yes</i> : 2. <i>No</i>	
When (count the number of months)	
Have you recently thought of or attempted suicide?	
When (count the number of months)	
Do you participate in any of the following :	
1. Modelling: 2 Advertisement: 3.Dancing 4. singing: 3. Athletics	